HIGH-FAT DIET AND RAT BONE

THE EFFECT OF A HIGH-FAT DIET ON BONE STRAIN IN ADULT RAT FEMURS

By CHERYL DRUCHOK, H.B.Sc.Kin.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Applied Science

McMaster University

© Copyright by Cheryl Druchok, October 2011

MASTER OF APPLIED SCIENCE (2011) (School of Biomedical Engineering) McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: The Effect of a High-Fat Diet on Bone Strain in Adult Rat Femurs

AUTHOR: Cheryl Druchok, H.B.Sc.Kin. (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Gregory R. Wohl, Ph.D., P.Eng.

NUMBER OF PAGES: xvi, 134

ABSTRACT

A high-fat diet can adversely affect bone mechanical properties, but it is unknown how these changes affect bone adaptation. Bone adaptation occurs in response to strainrelated mechanisms, and strain in the bone is affected by the size and mechanical properties of the bone. The purpose of this study was to compare the strain during loading in femurs from rats fed a high-fat (HF) or normal control (NC) diet. At 3 weeks of age, male and female Wistar rats were randomly assigned to receive a NC (NC-17% fat; N=8 per gender) or HF diet (HF-41% fat; N=8 per gender) until termination (39 weeks of age). Right femurs were loaded ex vivo in 3-point bending to physiologic levels and mechanical strain was measured. The mechanical properties of the left femurs were determined by 3-point bend tests to failure. The dietary effects were limited in both genders. Femoral cross-sectional area properties (bone area, moment of inertia), determined from microCT scans, were significantly greater in HF femurs vs. NC for males and females. Elastic modulus was calculated from strain and deformation data and no dietary effects were seen in either gender. At the applied loads, despite significantly larger cross-sectional area properties in the HF femurs, there was no significant difference in strain between HF and NC femurs for either gender. As a comparison, an expected HF femur strain was calculated using the average elastic modulus of the NC femurs and the HF femur cross-sectional properties. A significant difference was found between the expected HF strain and the measured NC strain. Together, these findings suggest that the greater cross-sectional area properties are a compensatory mechanism for deficient material properties in the HF femurs. Adaptive modeling during growth appears to take place to target a predetermined level of strain to preserve bone structural integrity.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is with immense gratitude that I acknowledge the support and guidance of my supervisor, Dr. Greg Wohl, throughout my research. He provided me with invaluable knowledge and an excellent learning environment. I thank him for having the confidence in me to succeed and for making this research possible.

I would also like to thank my committee members Dr. Karen Beattie, Dr. Alison Holloway and Dr. Cheryl Quenneville.

A huge thank you to my family and friends, they know who they are, for all of their support throughout my academic career. I would not be where I am today without them.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DESCRIPTIVE NOTE	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	xiv

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Bone Function and Composition	4
1.3 Cortical Bone Structure	5
1.4 Bone Cells	8
1.5 Osteocytes	9
1.6 Mechanotransduction	11
1.7 Cortical Bone Mechanical Properties	14
1.8 Bone Adaptation	17

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Diet	20
----------	----

2.1.1 Vitamin D	22
2.2 Effects of Obesity on Bone	24
2.2.1 Systemic Effects	24
2.2.2 Local Effects	27
2.2.3 Demonstrated Effects of Obesity on Bone Properties	29
2.3 Muscle and Bone	31
2.3.1 Fat and Muscle Effects on Bone	32
2.3.2 Sarcopenic Obesity	34

CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Animals	36
3.2 Diets	37
3.3 Bone Adaptation – Lamellar Bone Formation	38
3.3.1 Forelimb Model	39
3.3.2 Loading Protocol	41
3.3.3 Fluorochrome Labels	42
3.3.4 Sacrificing	44
3.3.5 Dissection	44
3.3.6 Bone Sample Preparation for Histological Assessments	44
3.3.7 Sectioning	45
3.3.8 Imaging and Analysis	45

3.4 Measurement of Physiological Mechanical Strains in the	46
Right Femur	
3.4.1 Cross-Sectional Area Properties	46
3.4.2 Strain Gauging	47
3.4.3 Three-Point Bend Sub-Failure Tests	48
3.4.4 Principal Strain Calculations	52
3.4.5 Material Property Calculations	53
3.4.6 Compression Tests	54
3.5 Left Femur Failure Tests	56
3.5.1 Material Property Calculations	58
3.6 Statistics	59
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	
4.1 Rat Body Composition and Exclusions	59

······································	• •
4.1.1 Body Composition	59
4.1.2 Exclusions	60
4.2 Lamellar Bone Formation	61
4.3 Right Femur 3-Point Bend Sub-Failure Strain Tests	
4.3.1 Geometric Properties	63
4.3.2 Mechanical Properties	63
4.3.3 Expected Strain in HF Femurs	65
4.4 Right Femur Sub-Failure Compression Strain Tests	65

4.5 Left Femur 3-Point Bend Failure Tests	71
4.5.1 Exclusions	71
4.5.2 Mechanical Properties	71

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

5.1 Discussion	77
5.2 Dietary Effects on Bone	78
5.3 Geometric Properties	81
5.4 Femoral Material Properties	85
5.4.1 Elastic Modulus Calculations	85
5.4.2 Material Properties	89
5.5 Femoral Strain	92
5.6 Femoral Mechanical Properties	96
5.7 Lamellar Bone Formation	100
5.8 Exclusions/Non-Responders	104
5.9 Limitations	107
5.10 Combining Diet and Gender to Increase Evaluation Power	110
5.11 Conclusions	112
5.12 Future Work	113

REFERENCES	116
APPENDIX I: Normal Control Diet.	130

APPENDIX II: High Fat Diet.	131
APPENDIX III: Dehydrating, infiltration and embedding procedure	132
and schedule.	
APPENDIX IV: Elastic modulus values of right femurs from	133
sub-failure 3-point bend tests from the ADMET	
before correction, the extensometer and DVRT.	
APPENDIX V: Mechanical properties of the left femurs from failure	134
3-point bend tests from the ADMET before correction	
and the DVRT.	

LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	Schematic of the internal structure of a long bone.	7
1.2	Schematic of primary lamellar bone structure.	7
1.3	Schematic of secondary osteons.	8
1.4	Schematic of the osteocyte lacuna-canalicular network.	10
1.5	Typical load-deformation curve (A) and stress-strain	16
	curve (B) of a bone under compression.	
2.1	Schematic of the lineage allocation of mesenchymal	27
	stem cells.	
3.1	Material testing system setup.	40
3.2	Schematic of the rat forelimb compression model.	41
3.3	The forelimb loading and fluorochrome label	43
	injection timeline.	
3.4	Strain gauge placement on the posterior surface of	48
	the femur.	
3.5	Three-point bend test setup.	50
3.6	Representative graph of the strain recorded from the	51
	three gauges on a femur.	
3.7	Schematic of a beam in 3-point bending.	54
3.8	MicroCT cross-section of a femur at the mid-diaphysis.	54
3.9	Compression test setup.	56

3.10	Representative load-deformation curve of a femur in	58
	3-point bending.	
4.1	Final rat body mass [g].	61
4.2	Cross-sectional images of rat ulnas that underwent	62
	forelimb loading.	
4.3	Representative microCT cross-section of a NC and HF	66
	femur at the mid-diaphysis.	
4.4	Femoral cross-sectional area (XSA, mm ²) at the	67
	mid-diaphysis.	
4.5	Second moment of area [mm ⁴] of the femoral	67
	mid-diaphysis.	
4.6	Longitudinal femoral strain $[\mu\epsilon]$ at the applied sub-failure	68
	loads in 3-point bending.	
4.7	Femoral elastic modulus (E, GPa) calculated using measured	69
	longitudinal strain from 3-point bend tests.	
4.8	Longitudinal femoral strain $[\mu\epsilon]$ at an applied load of 30 N	70
	in 3-point bending.	
4.9	Longitudinal femoral strain $[\mu\epsilon]$ at an applied compressive	71
	load of 100 N.	
4.10	Maximum load [N] of the femurs in 3-point bending.	74
4.11	Maximum energy [mJ] of the femurs in 3-point bending.	74
4.12	Femoral stiffness [N/mm] in 3-point bending.	75

4.13	Maximum femoral stress [N/mm ²] in 3-point bending.	75
4.14	Femoral elastic modulus (E, GPa) calculated using	76
	maximum deformation from 3-point bend tests.	

LIST OF TABLES

1.1	Composition of the bone extracellular matrix (ECM).	5
1.2	Elastic modulus values of the human femur in various	16
	loading directions.	
3.1	Breakdown of experimental groups.	36
3.2	Litter pairings of NC and HF male and female rats.	37
3.3	Macronutrient and micronutrient breakdown of the NC	38
	and HF diets and the average Canadian diet.	
3.4	Common fatty acids in milk fat.	38
3.5	Breakdown of experimental groups for the forelimb	39
	loading protocol.	
3.6	The average peak load experienced by male and female	42
	rats during the forelimb loading protocol.	
4.1	Rat body composition.	60
4.2	Bone, calcein and alizarin perimeters of the right and	62
	left ulnas.	
4.3	Right femur geometric and mechanical properties.	66
4.4	Mechanical properties of left femurs.	73
5.1	Rat femoral modulus values found in the literature.	88

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

%	per cent
°C	degrees Celsius
δ	deformation or displacement
θ	angle
γ	shear strain
3	strain (mm/mm)
με	microstrain (10 ⁻⁶ mm/mm)
μm	micrometres
BMC	bone mineral content
BMD	bone mineral density
BMI	body mass index
BMU	basic metabolic unit
BW	body weight
cm	centimetres
CO ₂	carbon dioxide
cos	cosine
DEXA	dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry
DVRT	differential variable reluctance transducer
E	elastic modulus
ECM	extracellular matrix

EDNP	energy dense nutrient poor
EMG	electromyography
F	applied load
F-HF	female high-fat
F-NC	female normal control
FFM	fat free mass
FM	fat mass
g	grams
GPa	gigapascal
HF	high-fat
HF-NR	high-fat non-responders
HF-Pred E=NC	predicted high-fat strain using normal control elastic modulus
HFS	high-fat sucrose
Hz	Hertz
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor 1
IL-1β	interleukin-1 beta
IL-6	interleukin-6
I _{xx}	second moment of area
kg	kilogram
l	distance between supports
L	litres
M-HF	male high-fat

M-NC	male normal control
mg	milligram
microCT	micro-computed topography
min	minute
mJ	milliJoules
mL	millilitre
mm	millimetres
Ν	Newton
n-3	omega-3 fatty acid
n-6	omega-6 fatty acid
NC	normal control
РТН	parathyroid hormone
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SEM	scanning electron microscope
sin	sine
STD	standard deviation
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TRAP	tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase
XSA	cross-sectional area
Y _{post}	distance from centroid to posterior endosteum

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

The average age of the North American population has increased and is projected to increase dramatically through 2025 [1]; with this aging population, osteoporosis has become a significant public health concern and cost to the health care system. Osteoporosis is a disease of bone fragility that affects a significant portion of the aging North American population. Approximately one in two women and one in four men over the age of fifty will have an osteoporosis-related fracture in their lifetime [1]. It has been suggested that the rate of fractures related to bone fragility is disproportionately high for the rate of aging [1, 2] and therefore factors other than age must be taken into consideration. Among the factors that contribute to bone health (*i.e.*, genetics and hormones), nutrition, including dietary fat, can influence bone adaptation and may contribute to an increased risk of osteoporosis-related fractures [3].

Obesity has become a major public health concern mostly due to the "North American" or "Western" diet which is characteristically high in fat and refined sugars [4]. In the past, obesity has been thought to be protective for bone health. There is a well established positive correlation between body weight, which increases bone loading, and bone mineral density (BMD) [5]. However, accumulating recent data is now suggesting that increased fat mass (FM) is detrimental to bone [3]. Obesity has been shown to alter bone structural and material properties and, as a result, may be a contributing factor to the increased fracture risk seen in the aging population. Preventing fracture is key to reducing consequential morbidity, mortality, and health care costs. The potential of obesity to exacerbate fracture risk warrants a closer look at obesity and its effects on bone. A better understanding of the consequences of obesity on bone is needed — not only the consideration of how obesity affects bone structural and material properties, but also how these changes then affect the ability of bone to adapt to various loading conditions.

The ability of bone to adapt to changes in the loading environment is not only important but also necessary in order to minimize the consequences of increased loads on the bone. Altering the ability of bone to adapt to its environment could potentially result in compromised bone properties leading to fracture and physical disability. Bone adaptation is thought to occur in response to strain-related mechanisms, and strain in the bone is affected by both structural and material properties [6]. Because obesity has been shown to adversely affect material properties and alter structural properties, the strain experienced by bones from obese animals at a given load may differ from the strain in bones from non-obese animals. If the strain levels in the bones are different then the ways in which bone adapts to environmental stimuli will also be different; different rates and types of bone formation could occur, ultimately affecting how the bone stands up to continued loading. It is important to understand how bone adaptation is affected by obesity so that interventions can take place before bone health has been compromised.

The overall goal of this thesis project was to study the effects of obesity on the ability of bone to adapt to mechanical stimuli through the examination of bone structural and material properties and bone strain. The hypothesis was that male and female rats fed

a lifelong high-fat diet, designed to induce obesity, would exhibit decrements in bone mechanical properties, thus altering bone strain during mechanical loading and consequently affecting bone adaptation.

To accomplish this goal the specific aims were:

- Use a rat forelimb compression model to examine the effects of diet on lamellar bone formation induced by mechanical loading.
- 2. Measure and compare femoral strain during 3-point bending and compression in high-fat and normal control rats.
- 3. Compare the results from the two methods of mechanical testing.
- 4. Examine the structural and material properties of femurs from obese rats.

The effects of bone adaptation in response to loading can be examined at four different levels: 1) organ, 2) tissue, 3) cellular and 4) molecular [7]. At the organ level, structural parameters such as force, displacement, stiffness, and failure load can act as factors governing bone adaptation [7]. At the tissue level the factors that influence bone adaptation are determined by material parameters like stress and strain [7]. At the cellular level factors such as fluid flow, cell shape changes, cell-matrix interactions, oxygen and nutrient supply and electrical potentials control adaptation [7]. At the molecular level factors that influence adaptation are cytoskeletal changes, stretch activated ion channels, cell-surface integrins, cytokines and cell receptors [7]. For the purpose of this thesis, the

main focus was on organ (structural) and tissue (material) levels with some discussion on the cellular level. The characterization of structural and material properties, behavior and adaptation in high-fat bones will provide a basis for subsequent studies to examine bone adaptation at the cellular and molecular levels.

1.2 Bone Function and Composition

Bones are the primary structural elements in the body, protecting vital organs and providing a rigid framework for movement and locomotion. In addition, the skeleton participates in mineral homeostasis and is a primary site of hematopoiesis. Overall health requires the maintenance of all of these functions, thus emphasizing the importance of optimizing bone health.

Bone tissue consists of two components: cells and extracellular matrix (ECM). The ECM itself is composed of four components: hydroxyapatite mineral, collagen, water, and small amounts of proteoglycans and noncollagenous proteins (Table 1.1).

Mineral in bone consists mostly of hydroxyapatite crystals, $Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2$ and gives the bone rigidity and compressive strength. Bone mineral is impure containing many structural substitutions (*e.g.*, carbonate, fluoride, citrate) that are governed by the composition of body fluids and in turn affect the solubility of the bone mineral [8]. Collagen is a structural protein and the predominant type found in bone is type I. Collagen gives bone flexibility and tensile strength. Some of the water in the calcified bone matrix is free and some is bound to other molecules [8]. The mineralization of osteoid, the organic portion of extracellular bone, displaces part of its water [8]. Therefore, the water content of new bone tissue changes as it mineralizes. Ground substance of bone consists of proteoglycans. The specific roll of these in bone is unclear. They may function to control the location or rate of mineralization in bone through their calcium-binding properties [8]. Non-collagenous proteins include a number of molecules whose functions are also unclear. The most abundant non-collagenous protein is osteocalcin which is secreted by osteoblasts and is important in the mineralization of new bone [8].

Component	Mass (%)
Hydroxyapatite	65
Collagen (mostly type I)	23
Non-collagenous proteins and proteoglycans	2
Water	10

 Table 1.1.
 Composition of the bone extracellular matrix (ECM) [8].

1.3 Cortical Bone Structure

There are two types of bone present in the human body: cortical and trabecular. For the purpose of this research only cortical bone was examined in the rat femur. Cortical bone is the dense bone that lines the outer surface of most bones and is found in the shaft of long bones such as the femur (Figure 1.1). It has a porosity of 5-10% [9]. The microarchitecture and composition of cortical bone determines its mechanical properties and, due to its structure, it is stronger and heavier than trabecular bone. Cortical bone contains two major types of bone tissue: lamellar and woven bone. Lamellar bone forms in response to anabolic stimuli and is a slow-forming but very strong, dense bone. It is highly organized consisting of parallel layers or lamellae in which the collagen fibres run parallel in each lamella and change orientation by 90° between layers. Lamellar bone has fewer cells compared to woven bone. Woven bone is poorly organized and a weaker bone compared to lamellar bone but it forms rapidly enabling it to provide support to damaged bone quickly. The collagen fibres and mineral crystals appear to be randomly arranged but it may be more mineralized than lamellar bone helping to compensate for its poor organization. Woven bone has a low mineral density and high cellularity.

Cortical bone can be characterized as primary or secondary bone. Primary bone is tissue laid down de novo on an existing bone surface during growth. It is composed of lamellae that are parallel to the bone surface. Blood vessels are interspersed throughout the lamellar structure and are surrounded by several circular lamellae, forming a primary osteon with a primary Haversian canal at its centre (Figure 1.2). Haversian canals are approximately aligned with the long axis of the bone and also contain nerves. Volkmann's canals are short transverse canals connecting Haversian canals to each other and to the outer surface of the bone. These canals also contain blood vessels and nerves. Secondary bone results from the resorption of existing bone and the replacement by new lamellar bone. This process is known as remodeling. In cortical bone secondary tissue consists of cylindrical structures known as secondary osteons in which cylindrical lamellae surround a central Haversian canal (Figure 1.3). Cement lines form the boundary between the osteon and the surrounding bone and are scalloped in secondary osteons. In adult humans, most compact bone is composed entirely of secondary bone. Rats do not typically undergo true cortical bone remodeling [10] and as such the cortical bone exhibits only a few secondary osteons [11].



Figure 1.1 Schematic of the internal structure of a long bone [9].



Figure 1.2. Schematic of primary lamellar bone structure [9]. Primary osteons, concentric lamellae surrounding a blood vessel, are shown.



Figure 1.3. Schematic of secondary osteons [9]. Their characteristic scalloped cement lines are shown.

1.4 Bone Cells

Formation and maintenance of the ECM is carried out by the cells that make up a small percentage of the bone volume. There are four types of bone cells.

Osteoclasts are the cells that resorb bone. They are multinucleated because they are formed by the fusion of cells called monocytes originating in the hematopoietic portion of the bone marrow [12]. Osteoclasts erode their way through bone by first demineralizing the adjacent bone with acids and then dissolving its collagen with enzymes.

Osteoblasts are mononuclear cuboidal cells that produce osteoid, the organic portion of the bone matrix [12]. Osteoid contains collagen and non-collagenous proteins, proteoglycans, and water [8]. Osteoblasts are differentiated from mesenchymal cells and it appears that differentiation may be triggered by mechanical stress to the bone [12]. Osteoblasts have cell processes that extend into the newly formed bone connecting them to osteocytes within the calcified matrix. Osteocytes are former osteoblasts that have become embedded in the bone matrix as it is being secreted. They sit in cavities called lacunae and communicate with each other and with osteoblasts via processes passing through tunnels called canaliculi [12]. Processes from adjoining cells are connected by gap junctions. The osteocytes are found throughout the entire skeleton and this is one reason that they are thought to be important in transporting mineral into and out of the bone and in sensing mechanical stress.

Bone lining cells are like osteocytes, quiescent osteoblasts. These are the osteoblasts that escaped being buried in newly formed bone and remained on the surface when bone formation ceased [8]. Lining cells cover more than 90% of the surfaces of adult bone and they contain gap junction connections to osteocytes and osteoblasts to maintain communication [12]. Like osteocytes they are thought to be responsible for the transfer of mineral into and out of bone and for sensing mechanical strain [8]. They are also believed to initiate bone remodeling in response to various chemical and mechanical stimuli [12].

1.5 Osteocytes

Osteocytes are thought to be the main mechanosensing structure of bone because they are the most numerous bone cells and are spaced regularly throughout the mineralized matrix (Figure 1.4). They are connected with each other via long, slender cell processes and have the ability to communicate with other bone cells through their extensive network of processes connected at gap junctions, ensuring the entire bone is communicating [13]. Mature osteocytes reside within the lacuna-canalicular network of bone with the cell bodies residing in the lacunae and the long, slender processes radiating out in all directions but with the highest density perpendicular to the bone surfaces [13]. The processes pass through the bone matrix via small canals, the canaliculi, connecting the osteocytes to each other and to other bone cells [13]. Osteocytes must remain in contact with other cells and with the bone surface to ensure they have access to oxygen and nutrients. Osteocyte viability may play a significant role in the maintenance of bone homeostasis and integrity. Osteocyte apoptosis can occur due to a number of different factors including: microdamage, estrogen deprivation, elevated cytokines, osteoporosis, and aging [13]. Obesity and its associated effects (including microdamage and elevated cytokines) could potentially affect osteocytes and therefore mechanotransduction.



Figure 1.4. Schematic of the osteocyte lacuna-canalicular network [14].

1.6 Mechanotransduction

The currently favoured model of mechanotransduction involves osteocytes and their lacuna-canalicular network [13]. It is presumed that mechanical loads applied to bone are transduced through the skeleton and received by a cellular network [13]. The mechanical signal is then detected by certain receptor cells leading to the generation of a secondary signal aimed at target cells that modulate actual bone formation and resorption [13]. The mechanisms of mechanotransduction, mechanosensitivity, and response signaling in bone are not completely understood. It is thought that bone strain causes fluid flow in the lacuna-canalicular network which creates shear stress that stimulates the osteocytes, the receptor cells, which then activate the osteoblasts and osteoclasts, the effector cells, to maintain bone homeostasis [15].

It was first believed that loading would strain the cells directly, but the degree to which bone cells need to be stretched to elicit an osteogenic response is greater than the surrounding mineralized tissue can bear [16]. It has not yet been established how the loading of intact bone is transduced into a signal for the osteocytes. The application of force to bone during movement results in several potential cell stimuli including: changes in hydrostatic pressure, direct cell strain, fluid flow, and electric potentials resulting from electrokinetic effects accompanying fluid flow [15]. Evidence has been increasing steadily for fluid shear stresses caused by the flow of canalicular interstitial fluid as the likely stress-derived factor that informs the osteocytes about the level of bone loading, as it can generate an osteogenic response [15].

The magnitude of fluid flow through the lacuna-canalicular network is directly related to the amount of bone strain [13] and could be the means by which mechanical information is transmitted. The flow of fluid through the bone canaliculi has two effects: a mechanical one, derived from the fluid shear stress, and an electrokinetic one, derived from strain-generated potentials [13]. Either of the two, or both in combination, might activate osteocytes, although cell culture experiments suggest that cells are more sensitive to fluid forces than they are to electric potential [17]. Strain-generated potentials may modulate the movement of ions such as calcium whereas shear stress might cause movement of cell attachments [15].

Experimental studies show that osteocytes are sensitive to stress applied to intact tissue and loading can produce rapid changes in their metabolic activity [15]. *In vitro* osteocytes are quite sensitive to fluid shear stress and their response is stronger than osteoblasts and osteoprogenitor cells [15]. Both of these findings suggest that they may indeed function as mechanosensors in bone. As the fluid flows over the membranes of the osteocyte and its processes (the mechanosensitive part of the osteocyte has not yet been determined) and interacts with the proteoglycan matrix, the resulting shear stresses on the cell cause the release of intracellular calcium ions [13]. It is thought that the release of these calcium ions leads to propagation of signals across gap junctions from cell to cell activating many downstream signaling cascades. However, many steps in the mechanosignalling cascade are still unknown.

In healthy adequately adapted bone, strains resulting from physiological loads are quite small. Quantitative studies of the strain in bones of many animals found normal

locomotor strains *in vivo* ranging from about 500–2000 microstrain ($\mu\epsilon$) and maximal strains no higher than 2000-3000 $\mu\epsilon$ [18]. However, *in vitro* studies of strained bone cells have shown that much higher strains, in the order of 7000-10000 $\mu\epsilon$, are required to obtain a cellular response but the average strain of the bone matrix cannot exceed approximately 7000 $\mu\epsilon$ or the bone will be permanently damaged [13]. In intact bone, 1500 $\mu\epsilon$ was sufficient to activate adaptive bone formation *in vivo* [15]. If bone strain is involved in bone cell mechanosensing, then bone tissue seems to possess the ability to amplify small strains experienced by the bone into larger ones that can be detected by osteocytes.

Overall, it appears that strain is the stimulus for bone adaptation, osteocytes are indeed the mechanosensors and osteoblasts and osteoclasts work together to adjust the bone accordingly. In healthy bone, normal physiological loading is needed to maintain the movement of nutrients and waste to osteocytes and to provide them with enough fluid shear stress to meet a threshold level of strain [15]. Under such conditions bone cells, osteoblasts and osteoclasts, would not be recruited. If the level of loading were increased so would the fluid shear stress and thus, the osteocytes would call upon the osteoblasts or may inhibit osteoclasts. The production of new bone would then reestablish the strain threshold, stopping the stimulation of osteocytes. If the bone becomes underloaded, then fluid shear stress would become inactivated or may even die. This inactivation may be the trigger for the recruitment of osteoclasts or the inhibition of osteoclast suppression or both [15].

1.7 Cortical Bone Mechanical Properties

It is important to distinguish between the mechanical behavior of a bone as a structure (structural behaviour) and the mechanical behaviour of the bone tissue itself (material behaviour). The material behaviour of a specimen is independent of its geometry, size and shape, and it reflects the intrinsic properties of the material itself.

To determine the mechanical properties of a bone as a structure, typically a loaddeformation test is conducted. In the case of this thesis project, both three-point bending and compression tests were used. When a load is applied to the bone the bone will deform. That is, there will be a change in length in the bone being tested and the results can be portrayed in a load deformation curve (e.g., Figure 1.5). Such a mechanical test evaluates the bone as a structure and the shape of the load-deformation curve is dependent on the size and shape of the bone and also on the properties of bone tissue itself. Generally there is a linear region of the curve referred to as the elastic region — within this region the bone will return to its original size and shape when it is unloaded. The slope of the elastic region is the bone structural stiffness. Beyond the linear region, where the slope of the curve drastically decreases, is the plastic region. If a bone is loaded into the plastic region it will experience permanent deformation, and if the bone is unloaded in this region it will not return to its original shape. The point where the two regions meet and the curve changes shape is referred to as the yield point. The point where the curve stops and drops off is the ultimate failure point or the point where the bone fractures. The failure or maximum load is usually considered the strength of the bone. The energy

required to cause failure of the bone is defined as the area under the load-deformation curve to the failure point and is termed the work to failure.

The mechanical properties of a structure depend on both its geometry and the properties of the material that composes the structure. To determine material properties, the size and shape of the structure must be taken into account. The material properties are usually determined by calculations that use a combination of the measured bone structural properties and the bone geometric properties. Normalizing the load and deformation to the size of the structure results in stress and strain respectively. Stress is defined as load per unit area. Strain is defined as the fractional change in dimension of a loaded structure. For example, when a femur is compressed, the load is divided by the cross-sectional area (XSA) of the femur to obtain the stress, and the deformation curve can be converted to a stress-strain curve by changing load to stress and deformation to strain. The stress-strain curve is analogous to the load-deformation curve but reflects the material behaviour of the bone tissue.

The shape of the stress-strain curve is similar to that of the load-deformation curve as shown in Figure 1.5. Similar to the load-deformation curve, there is a linear region – the elastic region, and a nonlinear region – the plastic region. At physiologic levels of stress, there is a linear relationship between the applied stress and the resultant strain. The slope of the linear region is the modulus of elasticity or Young's modulus. The elastic modulus is a useful determinant of bone material properties. Typical values of the elastic modulus in human femora are shown in Table 1.2. Similar to the load-deformation curve, in the elastic region, the material bonds will stretch or bend but they will not be permanently rearranged. In the plastic region, the material will undergo permanent deformation. The strength of the bone material is determined by calculating the maximum stress at the point of failure. Integration of the curve, giving the area under the curve, is a measure of the strain energy or toughness of the material.



Figure 1.5. Typical load-deformation curve (A) and stress-strain curve (B) of a bone under compression.

Table 1.2.Elastic modulus values of the human femur in various loading
directions [19].

Modulus (GPa)	Value
Longitudinal	17.0
Transverse	11.5
Shear	3.3

Bone material properties are determined by two different factors: 1) the calcification of the solid bone matrix, 2) the composition and spatial arrangement of crystals, collagen fibers, lamellae, and 3) the density of microdamage inside the calcified tissue. More than 80% of the variation in the elastic modulus in cortical bone can be

explained by the matrix mineralization and bone porosity [20]. The major determinant of the elastic modulus is related to the mineral phase whereas the yield strength is determined both by the mineral composition and by the integrity of the collagenous matrix [20]. The elastic behavior of bones is mainly affected by the collagen quality and mineralization, while bone properties under plastic conditions depend on microstructural factors and microdamage that affect the ability of the tissue to resist fracture [20]. The ability to incur microdamage is a protective mechanism against complete fracture, but microcracks compromise bone strength as they accumulate.

The mechanical behaviour of bone varies according to the direction and rate of loading. Bones have different mechanical properties in different loading directions, a property known as anisotropy. The anisotropic behaviour of bone reflects its function as a load bearing structure because it is generally stiffest and strongest in the primary loading direction. Cortical bone is stronger along the long axis of the bone than the transverse axis and is stronger in compression than in tension. The stiffness and strength of cortical bone also depend on the rate at which the bone is loaded or strained. Bone is a viscoelastic material, one that undergoes material flow under sustained stress and exhibits different mechanical properties under different loading rates [21].

1.8 Bone Adaptation

Bone is a dynamic tissue that can adapt to mechanical loading with changes in shape and structure to achieve a better balance between stress and load. Julius Wolff is credited with first proposing that mechanical stress is responsible for determining the architecture of bone and that bone tissue is able to adapt its mass and three-dimensional structure to mechanical usage to obtain a higher efficiency of load bearing [9]. Bone is able to optimize itself to provide the best support for daily loading. If loading patterns change then bone can adapt accordingly. The ability of bone to adapt is key to maintaining structural stability.

One key concept regarding the adaptation of bone to mechanical loading is the idea that this occurs via a self-regulating biologic mechanism. Claude Bernard first introduced the idea of homeostasis to physiology, the concept that physiologic systems self-regulate to keep a critical internal variable constant [9]. Frost [22] was the first to describe the mechanostat theory stating that bones adapt in response to changes in the mechanical environment so that they can remain mechanically competent. As Bernard had done previously, Frost [22] suggested that bone has a homeostatic regulatory mechanism that can sense changes in mechanical demands and alter its structure accordingly to meet these new demands. It is thought that below a certain threshold of use, bone will be resorbed because it is not necessary, and above a certain threshold, where mechanical demands are higher than typical, bone formation will occur to increase the strength of the bone to withstand the new loading. That is, bone has a mechanostat that can regulate bone adaptation based upon the loading environment. The bone homeostatic control system or the mechanostat has a stimulus - strain or a strain-related characteristics, a sensory mechanism – osteocytes, and an effector mechanism that can bring the system back to homeostasis – modeling and remodeling [22].

The internal variable that bone tries to keep constant, as Bernard described it, is strain. Bone strain is defined as the fractional change in dimension of a loaded bone and therefore results in changes in the bone environment. Because of this, it is strongly believed that the level of strain experienced by the bone provides the threshold or stimulus for bone adaptation. Rubin and Lanyon [18] found that measured bone strains during physiological activities were nearly equivalent on different bones and in different animals. When a mature musculoskeletal system is functioning at a high physiologic level, peak periosteal strains usually lie between 2000 and 3000 µε regardless of the bone or animal [18]. This finding supports the notion that the skeletons of all animals are adapted to control the magnitude of strain.

Bone modeling and remodeling are the mechanisms that bones use to adapt to mechanical strain. Bone modeling is the process by which bone is shaped to maximize functional capacity. It is the process by which bone is formed by osteoblasts without prior bone resorption and occurs on the surfaces of bone [12]. This process is vigorous through growth and produces changes in bone size and shape. It slows during aging but continues to maintain optimal bone shape. Bone modeling can be induced in mature bone with a change in the mechanical environment. In animals, bone modeling can be induced experimentally through *in vivo* external loading of a bone. This loading can produce lamellar bone formation on the periosteal surface.

Bone can also be remodeled. This process involves the resorption of existing bone by osteoclasts and subsequent new bone formation by osteoblasts in the same location. Together, the osteoclasts and osteoblasts form the basic metabolic unit (BMU) that
reconstructs the internal bone structure [23]. Bone remodeling works to maintain or alter mineral balance, adapt bone structure to meet changes in mechanical loading, or to repair microdamage caused by excessive loading and fatigue damage [23].

Bone adaptation requires a balance between bone formation and resorption to optimize bone structure. Changes in the body that can affect osteoblasts and osteoclasts such as obesity, can compromise bone adaptation and, in turn, affect the integrity of bone.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Diet

Obesity, although once considered a state of overnutrition, has now been recognized as a risk factor for several nutrient deficiencies, including lower levels of antioxidants and certain fat-soluble vitamins. The causes of the nutrient deficiencies are not fully understood but it is most likely the result of eating energy dense nutrient poor (EDNP) foods. Positive associations between body mass index (BMI) and consumption of EDNP foods have been found [24, 25]. EDNP foods provide approximately 27% of the total daily energy in the North American diet, with one-third of the population consuming an average of 45% of energy from EDNP foods [26]. EDNP foods tend to substitute for, rather than supplement, the more nutrient-dense foods in the North American diet. This pattern leads to: 1) high energy intake, 2) marginal micronutrient intake, 3) poor compliance with current nutrient- and food group–related dietary recommendations, and 4) low serum concentrations of vitamins [26]. Kant et al. [26] found that the odds of consuming less than the standard intake of most micronutrients and the odds of having low serum vitamin concentrations rose with increasing EDNP food intake. As well, EDNP food consumption was inversely related to the odds of consuming 30% of energy from fat and obtaining less than 10% of energy from saturated fat [26].

An EDNP diet would be considered what Fung et al. [27] refers to as a "Western" pattern diet. It is characterized by a higher intake of red and processed meat, high-fat dairy products, and high-fat foods such as French fries, eggs, refined grains, sugar-containing beverages, sweets, desserts, beer, and liquor [27]. As intake of nutrient-poor food increases, the intake of unprocessed, nutrient-dense foods decreases proportionately. Although risk factors of this diet do include increased fat consumption, they also include increased sugar consumption and decreased consumption of micronutrients key to bone health. There are a number of dietary factors associated with obesity that may contribute to the changes seen in the bone mechanical properties of obese individuals.

Hypothetically, overweight and obese people may be disadvantaged nutritionally in two ways. Firstly, although their diets are high in energy, intakes of micronutrients may be low as a consequence of poor dietary choices [28]. However, micronutrient intakes have been shown to be strongly influenced by energy intakes [29]. Secondly, overweight and obese people may have higher requirements of key nutrients because obesity affects the absorption, storage, oxidation and excretion of nutrients [30-32].

Many studies have investigated associations between micronutrient status and markers of adiposity, generally finding a low micronutrient status in overweight or obese

21

populations for one or more nutrients [33]. Research on micronutrient status is often carried out on patients awaiting bariatric surgery. Surveys in patient groups found inadequate levels of nutrients, such as iron and vitamins A, B6, B12, C, D and E [34-37]. Surveys in general populations also show associations between markers of adiposity and a lower micronutrient status [28].

A large portion of the population consistently consumes fast food. In fact over one-third of North Americans report having eaten fast food on any given day, while 7% eat fast food daily [38]. Nutritional analysis shows fast food to be high in fat, saturated fat, energy density, fructose and glycaemic index, yet poor in fibre, vitamins A and C and calcium [39]. Over the past 20 years, sugared beverage intake has increased 70% in children aged 2–18 and 83% in young adults aged 19–36 [40]. The Canadian Community Health Survey found that one-quarter of all Canadians reported consuming fast food on the day before their interview including one third of adolescents (aged 14-18) [41].

2.1.1 Vitamin D

Vitamin D inadequacy constitutes a largely unrecognized epidemic in many populations worldwide. More than one-third of the US population exhibits vitamin D deficiency [42]. It has been reported in healthy children, young adults, middle-aged and elderly adults [42]. Typically, the prevalence of low 25-hydroxy vitamin D 25(OH)D levels is approximately 36% in otherwise healthy young adults aged 18 to 29 years [42].

Vitamin D plays a central role in calcium and phosphorus homeostasis and skeletal health. Chronic vitamin D inadequacy in adults can result in secondary hyperparathyroidism, increased bone turnover, enhanced bone loss, and increased risk of fragility fracture [42]. The increase in parathyroid hormone (PTH) mediated osteoclastogenesis results in increased numbers and activity of osteoclasts [42]. Osteoclasts resorb bone, releasing calcium and phosphorus. The result is increased skeletal porosity, defective bone mineralization, decreased BMD, osteoporosis, and increased risk of fragility fracture [42]. Secondary hyperparathyroidism can also affect phosphorus levels causing poor calcium-phosphorus ratios resulting in poor bone mineralization, making the skeleton less rigid [42].

The most important source of vitamin D is the sun and, to date, there is no evidence of reduced sun exposure in obese groups [43]. The second most important source of vitamin D is food, and it has been speculated that malnutrition in the obese group could be a reason for their vitamin D depletion [44]. It may not be a lack of sun exposure or a lack of consumption but rather vitamin D sequestration by adipose tissue [44] that leads to vitamin D deficiency in obese individuals. A study by Wortsman et al. [45] found that conversion of the vitamin D precursor was similar in obese and lean subjects, but that the resulting increase in serum vitamin D in the obese group was 57% lower than that measured in the lean group. The authors proposed that vitamin D production in response to sunlight was inefficient in obese people caused by deposition of vitamin D in subcutaneous adipose tissue. As well, oral supplementation in the obese group resulted in a lower serum vitamin D level compared to the effect seen in the lean group [45]. Other studies have confirmed differences in vitamin D and calcium metabolism between obese and lean subjects [46]. This has led to suggestions that obese people may have a higher requirement for vitamin D [31].

Several studies have reported differences in circulating levels of 25(OH)D between lean and overweight populations. In these studies a lower vitamin D status was found in participants with a higher BMI [44], abdominal obesity [47, 48] and greater body fatness [49]. As well, recent studies have shown that body mass index and body fat are inversely related to serum 25(OH)D levels and directly related to PTH levels, which is likely due to vitamin D sequestration in body fat compartments [42]. Abnormalities in calcium metabolism in the morbidly obese have been demonstrated with vitamin D deficiency as the common denominator [50]. Several investigators have reported vitamin D deficiency and raised PTH levels in obese populations, some in more than 50% of the study population [36, 50-53]. Debate continues on whether the low levels of circulating nutrients in obese populations reflect true unavailability or increased adipose storage, both risk factors for deficiency.

2.2 Effects of Obesity on Bone

2.2.1 Systemic Effects

Obesity can affect bone both systemically and locally. Systemically, obesity can affect bone metabolism in the following ways:

It has been established that obesity is associated with low-grade chronic inflammation and elevated production of proinflammatory cytokines including tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α), interleukin 1β (IL-1β), and interleukin 6 (IL-6) [54-57]. These cytokines are released from adipocytes and have been shown to increase osteoclast activity [54-56].

- Adipocytes and osteoblasts are derived from a common multipotential mesenchymal stem cell, and these stem cells exhibit an equivalent tendency for differentiation into adipocytes or osteoblasts [55, 56] (Figure 2.1). Numerous interacting pathways determine the balance of the differentiation and a diet high in fat may increase bone marrow adipogenesis while inhibiting osteoblastogenesis [54, 55].
- A diet high in fat can interfere with intestinal calcium absorption and utilization [55, 58]. In particular, saturated fatty acids form insoluble soap complexes with calcium in the intestine and therefore the calcium cannot be absorbed [57-60].
- The levels of several hormones are altered by obesity, many of which can impact bone. Insulin is a potential regulator of bone growth, since osteoblasts have insulin receptors as well as insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) receptors, which can also mediate the effects of insulin [5]. Insulin can stimulate osteoblast proliferation and in clinical studies, circulating insulin levels are related to bone density [5]. As well, IGF-1 concentrations increase with weight and it has been suggested that IGF-I acts to increase bone size [61]. Hyperinsulinemia can cause androgen and estrogen overproduction increasing free concentrations of sex hormones which can reduce osteoclast activity and have positive effects on osteoblasts [5]. Adipocyte-derived hormones such as leptin and adiponectin also play a role in bone's response to obesity by a variety of mechanisms [61].
 - Leptin is secreted primarily by adipocytes, and whether it is beneficial or antagonistic to bone quality is under debate [54, 55]. Although, there is some consensus that increased leptin production is associated with higher bone

25

mineral density and bone size [61]. Leptin affects bone both locally and centrally. Locally, osteoblasts express leptin receptors and leptin increases osteoblast proliferation and differentiation and also inhibits osteoclastogenesis [5]. Centrally, leptin enhances sympathetic activity, which in turn promotes bone resorption through the inhibition of beta-adrenergic receptors expressed by osteoblasts [62]. The local and central effects are in opposition with respect to bone health, but since leptin originates primarily in adipocytes, in most situations the local effects will dominate [5, 63].

- Adiponectin is the most abundant protein secreted from adipose tissue and its concentration in circulation is much higher than that of other hormones and cytokines [64]. Unlike other adipokines, serum adiponectin levels are decreased in obesity [65]. Studies report negative correlations between circulating adiponectin and bone mass [65]. Adiponectin is expressed on osteoblasts and increases osteoblast proliferation, differentiation and mineralization suggesting a positive effect of adiponectin on bone [5, 65]. Adiponectin has also been shown to inhibit osteoclastogenesis and osteoclast activity by modulating osteoblasts resulting in reduced bone resorption and increased bone mass [5, 65].
- High levels of dietary fat have been reported to induce oxidative stress, overproduce reactive oxygen species, and decrease antioxidative enzyme activity, all of which may contribute to osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption and to increased osteoblast apoptosis and decreased bone formation [66].

26

• A high sucrose diet can also affect bone as it can produce hyperinsulinemia that can then induce hypercalciuria by inhibition of renal resorption of calcium, which can potentially influence bone mineralization [57-59].

Overall, systemically, the effects of obesity on bone are both positive, with increases in bone size and bone formation and negative, with potential compromises in mineralization and bone resorption.



Figure 2.1. Schematic of the lineage allocation of mesenchymal stem cells [62]. The solid arrows represent confirmed networks for regulation and the dashed arrows represent potential regulatory pathways.

2.2.2 Local Effects

Evidence suggests that the strain responsible for bone adaptation is sensed by osteocytes through the production of fluid shear stress but the mechanisms behind the origin of the strain are debatable. It is strongly believed that muscular forces exerted upon bone mainly determine bone morphology, structure and strength [67-69]. Muscles put the largest loads on bones, even on weight bearing bones [9, 70, 71]. Therefore, bone would adapt a weight bearing bone's strength more to muscle strength than to body weight or

other sources of bone loads [72, 73]. It is the muscle forces that cause the strains on the bones and, in turn, control bone adaptation. Thus with reduced muscle mass and strength, strains exerted on bone are weaker, and the bones are not stimulated sufficiently. However, reaction forces or gravitational forces can also cause bone loading. The local effects of obesity on bone therefore include muscular forces and may include, for weight bearing sites, body mass effects. Muscular forces and gravitational forces are not mutually exclusive in weight bearing animals. Mechanical loading as a result of body mass occurs at a frequency of 1 to 2 Hz whereas the frequency of muscle contraction ranges from 15 to 60 Hz [74]. It has been shown that these higher frequencies are significantly related to bone adaptation responses [74]. Muscle forces are present, significant, and capable of eliciting adaptive responses but whether they are the primary stimuli or not has not been well established.

In younger adults, muscle mass is generally increased in obesity, which is assumed to be an anatomical response to the stress imposed by increased body weight. As mentioned previously, epidemiological data show that higher body weight or BMI is positively correlated with bone mass, and weight loss may actually cause bone loss [75-77]. It has been shown that changes in body weight generally involve proportional changes in fat mass (FM) and fat-free mass (FFM) with, on average, 30% of any change in weight, gain or loss, comprised of FFM, mainly muscle [78]. Therefore obesity not only involves an increase in fat mass, it is also accompanied by an increase in FFM so it may be the greater muscular forces as a result of the increased FFM, the overall increase in body mass that is causing changes in the bone structure or it may be a combination of both. Resolving whether changes in bone size, mass and density seen with obesity are mainly the result of increased FFM or overall body mass is difficult.

Though the mechanisms by which lean mass influences bone mass are not clear, the most accepted explanation is that increasing muscular loading can induce periosteal apposition, and that bone formation can also be stimulated directly by mechanical strain via mechanoreceptors in osteocytes [79-81].

2.2.3 Demonstrated Effects of Obesity on Bone Properties

Obesity has been shown to affect a number of bone properties including structural, morphological, material, and microarchitectural, but many of the results are inconsistent.

• *Geometry*

Several murine studies have shown altered bone geometry caused by obesity. Increased second moment of area [59, 61, 82], and bone cross sectional area have been found in obese animals [58, 61, 83]. No changes [54, 55, 58] as well as reductions in cross sectional area have also been found [3, 84]. These different findings could be the result of different diet durations and/or the different bones examined.

• Bone Volume and Mass

Significant decreases in bone volume in animals fed a high-fat diet have been found [54, 55, 60, 85]. A high-fat diet has also shown to decrease femoral bone mass despite a significant increase in body weight [4, 55].

29

• Mechanical and Material Tests

The maximum load has been shown to be greater [59, 83] in animals fed a high-fat diet compared to controls but it has also been shown to be lower [3, 4, 57, 58, 61]. The energy to failure has also been inconsistent, with some studies showing lower [57] and others no change [58]. No differences have been found between high-fat diet animals and controls with respect to maximum stress and stiffness [83] but a lower stiffness [4, 61] has been shown in high-fat animals as well. The elastic or Young's modulus has shown to be unchanged in some studies [4, 83] and significantly lower in rats fed a high-fat diet in others [4, 58].

• BMD

The effects of a high-fat diet on bone mineral density (BMD) are inconsistent. No differences in BMD of cortical bone between obese animals and controls [54, 55, 61] have been found, indicating that high-fat diet may not impair mineralization. However, others have found that the BMD indicated a substantial bone loss in obese animals compared to controls [56, 64, 85]. Li et al. [58] found both results depending upon the bone examined. An increase in BMD has also been reported [61].

• Bone Mineral Content (BMC)

Similar to BMD the effects of a high-fat diet on BMC are unclear. Both increases [59, 61] and decreases [4, 64, 66] in BMC with a high-fat diet have been found. The increase in BMC was said to be consistent with the increase seen in bone size [61].

30

• Cortical Bone Microarchitecture

In general, trabecular bone has been said to be more responsive than cortical bone to diet or drug treatments or aging because trabecular bone is more actively remodeled than cortical bone due to the larger surface to volume ratio [54]. Ionova-Martin et al. [61] used SEM to show that both the orientation of osteocyte lacunae and the lamellar structure are less ordered and aligned in mice fed a high-fat diet compared to controls. In the control mice, the bone was well aligned and organized; the high-fat diet mice displayed poorer mineral organization [61]. As well, a diet high in fat has been shown to cause a significant accumulation of adipocytes in the bone [56], compromising the bone material.

Overall the effects of obesity on bone are inconsistent, possibly due to the different bone sites examined and the length and composition of the diets. However, many studies do indicate adverse effects of obesity on bone. Osteoporosis and fractures remain a large health issue and if obesity and its complications can potentially affect bone and increase the risk of low-energy fractures, then obesity must be considered to be a significant factor in bone health.

2.3 Muscle and Bone

A role for muscle in the determination of bone properties can be seen in weight – bearing and non weight-bearing bones. Daly et al. [86] measured muscle and bone size in the playing and non playing arm of tennis players and found increased muscle and bone mass in the playing arm compared to the non playing arm. Studies looking at the lower limb or bones that experience both muscular and ground reaction forces have shown a primary role for muscle force in bone mass regulation. Lu et al. [87] used force transducers placed in the shaft of prostheses and a force platform to show that more than 70% of the forces generated within the femur during a normal gait cycle were found to result from muscle forces (which were also monitored via EMG), leaving less than 30% derived from body weight. However, during more strenuous exercise, when bone formation would be stimulated, the proportion of forces in the long bones resulting from muscle contraction might change. Other studies using animal models strengthen the role of muscles in osteogenesis, even in the absence of loading from ground reaction forces. Umemura et al. [88, 89] trained rats to jump up to an elevated platform, using muscular contraction of their hindlimbs, and then catch the edge of the platform using their front paws to avoid the effects of the ground reaction forces on the bones. The results from these studies showed significant increases in bone weight, mechanical properties, and structural properties [88, 89]. These studies, therefore, suggest that loading achieved by muscles only can cause a significant osteogenic response.

2.3.1 Fat and Muscle Effects on Bone

Recent reports suggest that fat mass negatively impacts bone mass when the confounding effects of weight and mechanical loading are controlled [90-92]. However, it has been shown that obesity can be protective against osteoporosis and fractures [93, 94], and that fat mass is the main determinant of a higher BMD [95]. Gnudi et al. [77] found that the relationship between BMC and BMD measurements and body composition is

different between women with or without osteoporosis. In osteoporotic women, FFM and FM were shown to be significantly associated with BMC and BMD, but in women without osteoporosis only lean mass was significantly associated with BMC and BMD [77]. However, in osteoporotic postmenopausal women, FFM has been demonstrated as the major component of body composition associated with BMC and BMD measurements, and FM has shown no association with BMC or BMD measurements [96]. It may be site specific, as muscle mass has been shown to be the only predictor of lumbar vertebrae BMD, whereas both fat and lean body mass determined femoral neck BMD [69]. The specificity of the site may play a role because trabecular bone is more metabolically active and is therefore subject to more accelerated remodeling when compared to cortical bone. Any adverse effects on cortical bone are offset more slowly and to a lesser extent than within trabecular bone. As well, the femur undergoes extensive mechanical loading from the increased body and fat mass whereas the lumbar spine does not undergo loading to the same extent.

In a number of studies of women with osteoporosis, a correlation between FFM and BMD have been reported. In some, it has been considerably weaker than the association between FM and BMD [95, 97], in others it has been greater [77]. Support for the positive association between muscle mass and bone has been demonstrated in young women as well. Low muscle mass was identified as a risk factor for low proximal femur BMD, whereas higher fat was only protective when associated with substantial muscle mass [98]. Teasing out the effects of body mass, fat mass, and lean mass on bone is very difficult and it remains to be seen which plays a larger role. However, if some studies show that obesity, and specifically fat mass, do not provide protection for bone and rather muscle mass does, then interventions targeting physical activity would be ideal.

2.3.2 Sarcopenic Obesity

Examining sarcopenic obesity may help to tease out the effects of muscle vs. body mass on bone properties. Sarcopenic obesity describes individuals who are sarcopenic, have a low muscle mass, but who are obese. Therefore these individuals exhibit increased total body mass, through increased fat mass, but are lacking muscle mass, so, if muscle were the main determinant of bone mass, then these individuals would show decreased bone mass despite their increased overall mass.

Osteoporosis has been shown to be more prevalent in sarcopenic and sarcopenic obese individuals than normal lean and obese groups [99]. Despite no difference in BMI or percent body fat, osteoporosis was more than 3 times more prevalent in women who were sarcopenic obese compared to nonsarcopenic obese [100]. Osteoporosis was also 2.5 times more prevalent in sarcopenic obese women compared to sarcopenic nonobese women, despite the fact that the obese women had a greater BMI and greater percent body fat [100]. Lima et al. [101] found significantly lower trochanter and whole body BMD in sarcopenic individuals when compared with nonsarcopenic individuals independent of age, percent body fat, weight, BMI, and physical activity level [101]. These results suggest that an increase in body mass or fat mass cannot exert great enough loads upon bones to compensate for decreased muscular force needed to sustain BMD and may actually hinder the bone. However, Aubertin-Leheudre et al. [102] found that sarcopenia did not influence hip or spine BMD, two main sites of osteoporosis and fractures, in obese sarcopenic postmenopausal women. They showed that when absolute fat mass is controlled for, muscle mass has no impact on BMD [102]. This suggests that obesity may exert a protective effect on BMD and fracture risk in sarcopenic postmenopausal women. The large mass of adipose tissue may provide an increased level of circulating estrogen, which, in turn, may help prevent BMD loss [103] or it may be that the increased bone loading caused by body weight does, indeed, affect BMD.

In summary, sarcopenic obesity studies to date do not appear to help decipher the role of muscle, fat and overall body weight on bone. This remains an area of much needed research.

Many factors associated with obesity can influence bone geometric, structural and material properties and, in turn, can affect the ability of bone to adapt to mechanical stimuli. The overall goal of this thesis project was to study the effects of obesity on the ability of bone to adapt to mechanical stimuli through the examination of bone structural and material properties and bone strain. The hypothesis was that male and female rats fed a lifelong high-fat diet, designed to induce obesity, exhibit decrements in bone mechanical properties, thus altering bone strain during mechanical loading and consequently affecting bone adaptation.

35

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Animals

The Animal Research Ethics Board at McMaster University approved all animal experiments. At weaning, 3 weeks of age, 38 male and female Wistar rats were randomly assigned to receive a normal control diet (NC) or high-fat diet (HF) (Table 3.1). A portion of the rats were assigned to the diets according to their litter. Four rats from each litter were divided up with one male and one female placed on the NC diet and one male and one female placed on the HF diet. The number of rats per group is not equivalent because litter sizes were not equal among the dams and the litters did not have equal sex ratios. It was decided *a priori* to keep 6 males and 6 females per mother but that was not always possible and some pups were sacrificed at earlier ages for examination, resulting in unequal group numbers (Table 3.2).

The animals were placed on this diet until termination at 39 weeks of age. The rats were housed one per cage and given food and water *ad libitum*. Upon termination, the rats were weighed and the mass of the gonadal, mesenteric and perirenal fat pads were measured. The carcasses were frozen until dissection.

Diet	Male	Female
Normal Control (NC - 17% fat)	8	11
High Fat (HF - 41% fat)	10	9

Table 3.1.Distribution of experimental groups.

Litter	# of M-NC	# of M-HF	# of F-NC	# of F-HF	Total
Number					Number
1	1	1	1	1	4
2	-	-	-	1	1
3	1	1	-	1	3
4	1	1	1	1	4
5	1	1	1	1	4
6	-	2	3	-	5
7	1	1	1	1	4
8	1	1	2	1	5
9	1	1	1	1	4
10	1	1	1	1	4
Sum	8	10	11	9	38

 Table 3.2.
 Litter pairings of NC and HF male and female rats.

M-NC, male NC; M-HF, male HF; F-NC, female NC; F-HF, female HF

3.2 Diets

The NC diet is the Harlan 8640 diet in which 17% of the calories came from fat (Appendix I). The HF diet is the Research Diets RD Western Diet (D12079B) in which 41% of the calories are from fat (Table 3.3, Appendix II). The primary fat in the HF diet is milk fat. It makes up 39% of the 41% of calories from fat. Milk fat contains a variety of fatty acids but saturated fats compose over 50% of the total fat found in milk (Table 3.4).

Macronutrient (% of calories)	Normal Control Diet (NC)	High Fat Diet (HF)	Rat Recommended	Average Canadian Diet*	
Protein	29	17		17	
Carbohydrate	54	43		51	
Fat	17	41		32	
Saturated Fat (% of total fat)	0.9	~50		10	
Sugars	~5-8% of mass	>35% of mass			
Micronutrient					
Calcium	11 g/100g	9.2 g/1000g	≥2.5 g/kg [104]	<adequate< td=""></adequate<>	
Vitamin D	3 IU/g	1000 IU/kg	1000IU/kg [105]	<adequate< td=""></adequate<>	

Table 3.3.Macronutrient and micronutrient breakdown of the NC and HF diets
and the average Canadian diet.

* Statistics Canada [41]

Table 3.4.Common fatty acids in milk fat [106].

Common Name	Carbon Number	Туре	Typical Composition (% w/w)
Butyric	4:0	short chain, saturated	3.9
Caproic	6:0	short chain, saturated	2.5
Caprylic	8:0	short chain, saturated	1.5
Capric	10:0	medium chain, saturated	3.2
Lauric	12:0	medium chain, saturated	3.6
Myristic	14:0	long chain, saturated	11.1
Palmitic	16:0	long chain, saturated	27.9
Stearic	18:0	long chain, saturated	12.2
Oleic	18:1	long chain, unsaturated	21.1
Linoleic	18:2	long chain, unsaturated	1.4
Linolenic	18:3	long chain, unsaturated	1.0
Others			10.6

3.3 Bone Adaptation – Lamellar Bone Formation

Mechanical loading was performed on a total of 20 of NC and HF male and female Wistar rats to investigate the effects of diet on mechanical induced bone adaptation. The mechanical loading was performed using a forelimb compression model and a protocol intended to induce lamellar bone formation. The protocol was a total of ten days and sacrifice of the rats occurred on day 9, at 39 weeks of age. The experimental group breakdown is shown in Table 3.5.

Table 3.5.Breakdown of experimental groups for the bone adaptation loading
protocol.

Diet	Male	Female
Normal Control (NC - 17% fat)	4	7
High Fat (HF - 41% fat)	5	4

3.3.1 Forelimb Model

Torrance et al. [107] were the first to use the rat forelimb compression model, which has benefits not offered by previous loading methods. The forelimb model is noninvasive and the loading contact points are at the wrist and elbow, both of which are away from the midpoint, the expected site of the highest strain and therefore greatest bone formation. This ensures that any bone apposition that occurs in this area is from the strain produced from the bending of the ulna due to the applied load and not from contact with the loading points themselves.

All loading was performed using an ADMET 5100 series (ADMET, Norwood, MA) material testing system (Figure 3.1). Custom cups were designed and manufactured to hold the carpus (wrist) and olecranon (elbow) during loading, similar to Figure 3.2. The z-axis was aligned with the long axis of the forelimb. Translation of the elbow was constrained in the x, y, and z directions and translation of the wrist was constrained in the x and y directions. The loading actuator was attached to the upper cup housing the wrist and applied a downward displacement in the z-direction. Both the wrist and elbow were allowed to rotate freely in their cups; therefore, no external moments were applied on either end of the forelimb. The rat was placed on a custom designed table while the loading was performed. The height of the bottom cup (holding the elbow) was adjusted such that the elbow was not being pulled up or down but rather sat naturally as it would when the rat was lying on its back.



Figure 3.1. Material testing system setup.



Figure 3.2. Schematic of the rat forelimb compression model [108].

3.3.2 Loading Protocol

Based on results from a previous study [109], a five-day forelimb loading protocol was chosen to induce lamellar bone formation in the ulna. The rats were anesthetized using 4-5% Isofluorane at 1 L/min. Cyclic loading was applied in a triangular waveform at a frequency of approximately 2 Hz with a 9.5 second delay at the end of each cycle, making a total loading cycle period of approximately 10 seconds. Fifty cycles were performed each day on the right forelimb of each rat to a target load of approximately 15 N, as established from a previous study [109]. The left forelimb acted as the non-

loaded control. The target load was approximate because the ADMET 5100 series material testing system had significant overshoot. For example, the target load was 15 N. To achieve this load at a frequency of 2 Hz, an input load of 8.5 N was used. The forelimb was unloaded to a load of approximately 2 N. The displacement rate was 14100 N/min. Gender also caused changes in the peak and minimum load with the females experiencing a smaller peak load at the 8.5 N setting than the males, possibly because of less stiffness or more compliance in their forelimbs (Table 3.6). Although the input parameters remained constant throughout the loading, response of the system did show some variability. Notably, changes in the stiffness of the forelimb throughout a given loading bout resulted in slight variations of frequency and peak load.

Table 3.6.The average peak load experienced by male and female rats during the
forelimb loading protocol. The ADMET input load was 8.5 N and the
actual target load was 15 N.

	NC-Male	HF-Male	NC-Female	HF-Female
Average Peak Load (N)	15.2	15.3	14.3	14.5

3.3.3 Fluorochrome Labels

Fluorochrome labeling is a widely used standard technique in skeletal research, which is simple and efficient for the investigation of the dynamics of bone formation [110]. In animal research this technique can be used for the measurement of bone formation and formation rate. The fluorochrome labels have a high affinity for calcium and therefore bind readily to it [110]. The labels only bind to calcium inside living cells, which are forming the new bone. When they are bound to calcium ions, they are incorporated at sites of mineralization in the form of hydroxyapatite crystals. The two labels used during this study were alizarin complexone and calcein green. Alizarin and calcein have different excitation and emission wavelengths. Alizarin fluoresces red and calcein fluoresces green. In the first 24-36 hours after administration, the label will bind with calcium and the unincorporated label will be rapidly excreted by the kidneys [110]. This allows the visualization of the lamellar bone apposition rate. The bone apposition rate can be determined from the distance between labels in histological sections and the time between label administrations.

To evaluate lamellar bone formation, the fluorochrome labels calcein and alizarin complexone were injected into the rats on days when bone formation was known to occur (day 2 and 7) (Figure 3.3). Calcein (Alfa Aesar, Lancaster, UK) salt was diluted into Millipore water at a concentration of 5 mg/mL. Alizarin complexone (Alfa Aesar, Lancaster, UK) salt was diluted into Millipore water at a concentration of 10 mg/mL. One molar hydrochloric acid and sodium hydroxide solutions were used for pH balancing (pH between 7.2-7.4). The solutions were administered through subcutaneous injections in the abdomen. Calcein doses were 20 mg/kg body mass (4 mL/kg) and alizarin doses were 30 mg/kg body mass (3 mL/kg).



Figure 3.3. The forelimb loading and fluorochrome label injection timeline. The rats were loaded for five consecutive days, day 0 to day 4. On day 2 they were injected with Calcein and on day 7 they were injected with Alizarin. On day 9 the rats were sacrificed.

3.3.4 Sacrificing

The rats were sacrificed nine days after loading began, at 39 weeks of age. The rats were sacrificed through CO_2 asphyxiation. A clean animal housing was charged with CO_2 gas for one minute prior to asphyxiation. The rats were then placed in the charged CO_2 housing for at least five minutes. Rat carcasses were then stored in a freezer (-20°C).

3.3.5 Dissection

Both loaded and non-loaded control ulnas were harvested for histology after freezing. Minimal amounts of soft tissue were removed from the ulnas, leaving the muscle on the bone as not to disrupt the periosteum on the bone. After removal, bones were stored in a 70% ethanol solution at 3°C until the start of the dehydrating procedures.

3.3.6 Bone Sample Preparation for Histological Assessments

For histological evaluation, the ulnas were embedded in a plastic resin to ensure integrity when cutting them into thin sections (120 μ m) for examination and analysis. After harvesting, forelimbs were placed in 15 mL Falcon tubes and dehydrated in increasingly concentrated ethanol solutions (70%, 95%, and 100%) stored at 3°C in the refrigerator (Appendix III). They were then placed in 16 mL glass vials with xylenes to remove the fat, also stored at 3°C. In the same vials, the forelimbs then underwent infiltration with methyl methacrylate, dibutyl phthalate and benzoyl peroxide solutions. These solutions were stored at 3°C as well to prevent the resin from hardening. The final embedding required the forelimbs to be placed in 4 mL glass vials and for the solution to be warmed to 37°C to achieve a hard resin that could be sectioned properly.

3.3.7 Sectioning

After three days of curing, the resin had hardened and the embedded forelimbs were removed from the glass vials by breaking the glass off around them. The lengths of the forelimbs were then measured and the midpoint was marked. The area of interest, where the most bone formation was expected to occur, was approximately 1 mm distal to the midpoint [109]. The sample was placed with the distal end in the cutting clamp and an Isomet low speed diamond wafer saw (Buehler, Lake Bluff, IL) was used to cut the sample at the midpoint. A second cut was made 500 μ m distal to the midpoint to achieve a section thickness of approximately 120 μ m (the blade has a thickness of 380 μ m). The section was then fixed to a microscope slide using Permount (Fisher Scientific, Toronto, Canada) and coverslipped. The samples were left to dry for twenty-four hours.

3.3.8 Imaging and Analysis

Upon drying, a Nikon DS-Fi microscope (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) was used to image the slides and images were captured using a RETIGA 2000R camera (QImaging, Vancouver, BC) and accompanying NIS-Elements AR software package. Twelve bit 1650 x 2150 pixel images were obtained with an individual picture resolution of 1.68 µm/pixel. From the captured images, the total bone perimeter and the perimeter of the calcein and alizarin labels were determined using ImageJ (http://rsbweb.nih.gov/ij/).

3.4 Measurement of Physiological Mechanical Strains in the Right Femur

The ability to measure strain is extremely beneficial, not only for determining the mechanical properties of bone but also for quantifying the mechanical input to bone. A strain gauge is used to measure the deformation of the material it is attached to, in this case bone. *In vivo* strain gauge recordings provide a direct measure of bone deformations caused by all the parts of the musculoskeletal system not just estimates from ground reaction forces and analytical models. *In vivo* strain gauge implantation of a rat is difficult because of their small size, but measuring bone strain during physiological conditions offers more relevant data. Very few studies have reported *in vivo* strain gauge data from the rat. However, they can help provide a link between the mechanical responses of bone and the metabolic processes that are occurring within the bone. Combining the two, the factors that govern changes in bone metabolism can be established.

Ex vivo strain gauging is a much easier procedure that can still provide insight into what the bone is experiencing during mechanical loading. The drawback of this technique is that the loading conditions are not truly physiological. There is a lack of muscle and soft tissue support and the physiological direction of loading cannot be replicated outside the body easily. Despite its drawbacks, *ex vivo* strain gauging can provide a basis for further testing.

3.4.1 Cross Sectional Area Properties

Cross-sectional area properties of the femurs were measured from microcomputed tomography (microCT) scans. The right femurs were excised and cleaned of soft tissue and were wrapped in saline soaked gauze and frozen. The femurs were removed from the freezer two hours prior to microCT scanning. To examine the structural properties of the femurs, the bones were scanned using a GE Medical Systems MicroCT eXplore RS80 (GE, Toronto ON) at an isometric resolution of 45 µm. Three dimensional data sets were loaded into Microview (GE Healthcare, Waukesha, WI) to visualize the data. Cross sectional area properties for each femur were determined at the midpoint using ImageJ. After thresholding, images were saved as .txt files containing a matrix of ones and zeros representing pixels containing bone and pixels not containing bone. The .txt image files were then loaded into Excel (Microsoft, Redmond, WA) and a custom worksheet was used to determine cross-sectional area and second moment of area. Second moment of area values were calculated by determining which row of the matrix represented the geometric centroid and summing the square of the distances from this row of all pixels not in this row. Following scanning, the femurs were wrapped in saline soaked gauze and re-frozen.

3.4.2 Strain Gauging

The ex vivo femoral longitudinal strains were measured using rosette strain gauges. The femurs were removed from the freezer two hours prior to performing strain gauge attachment and mechanical testing. Rosette strain gauges (FRA-1-11-015LE, Tokyo Sokki Kenkyujo Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) were attached at the femur mid-diaphysis on the posterior surface. The midpoint of the femoral diaphysis was estimated to be half the distance between the superior surface of the femoral condyles and the middle of the lesser trochanter (Figure 3.4). To attach the rosette strain gauge the posterior surface at the midpoint of the bone was dried, dehydrated and cleaned using acetone. A drop of cyanoacrylate (Tokyo Sokki Kenkyujo Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) was applied to the bone at the midpoint upon which the strain gauge was placed with gauge "1" aligned with the long axis of the femur. The gauge was held firmly in place for five minutes and afterward was coated with clear lacquer (clear nail polish). Upon drying, the femurs were wrapped in saline soaked gauze to keep them hydrated before mechanical testing.



Figure 3.4. Strain gauge placement on the posterior surface of the femur. The strain gauge was placed at the midpoint of the diaphysis; determined as halfway between the middle of the lesser trochanter and the superior surface of the condyles.

3.4.3 Three-Point Bend Sub-Failure Tests

One of the main ways to examine bone structure is by performing mechanical

testing. For whole bone testing, three-point bending has become the standard test for

determining bone mechanical properties associated with changes in the structure and material caused by various interventions. There are a number of long bones that can be tested using three-point bending including the femur, tibia, humerus, radius and third metatarsal [111]. Selection of an appropriate bone depends upon biological factors, the composition of the bone, the rate of bone turnover, and the site of interest and mechanical factors that will reduce errors and help to satisfy assumptions in various mechanical testing theories.

Custom designed and manufactured fixtures (Figure 3.5) were created for threepoint bending using an ADMET 5100 series material testing system. Supports were manufactured from aluminum and capped with stainless steel dowels (2 mm diameter, Spaenaur, Kitchener, ON). An identical dowel pin was also fixed to the anvil. Femurs were removed from the freezer two hours prior to testing, and stored in saline soaked gauze. The posterior surface of each femur (where the strain gauge was attached) was placed on the two lower supports that were separated by a distance of 16 mm. The loading anvil made contact with the mid-point of the femur (opposite the location of the rosette strain gauge), causing the femur to bend in the anterior-posterior plane. Femurs were loaded to a 2 N preload and then were loaded cyclically for 30 cycles at a rate of 10 mm/min to loads of 10, 20 and 30 N. For loads of 40-100 N the femurs were loaded for 10 cycles. Force, displacement, and strain were recorded for each test (NI USB-6009 data acquisition card, National Instruments, Toronto, ON) using a custom data acquisition program (LabView 8.2, National Instruments, Toronto, ON). Load data were measured using an Interface SML-25, 25 lb load cell (Interface, Scottsdale, AZ) attached in series

with Interface SM-50, 50 lb load cell which provided feedback to the controller. Displacement was monitored using a differential variable reluctance transducer (DVRT) (M-DVRT-9, Microstrain, Williston, VT) and a custom extensometer. The load cell, extensometer's signal and strain were amplified using a Vishay 2310 Signal Conditioning Amplifier (Vishay, Shelton, CT).





50

For loads of 10-30 N, 30 cycles were recorded. This was done to ensure the strain recorded from gauge "1" was within 5% of the calculated principal longitudinal strain. To collect the strain from each of the three gauges, a switch and balance unit (Automation Industries Inc., Phoenixville, PA) was used to switch between gauges every 3 cycles. This was done for a total of 30 cycles. The middle 9 cycles (3 cycles for each strain gauge) were used for analysis. The average peak force, displacement and strain of the 3 cycles for gauges 1,2 and 3 were taken (Figure 3.6). The principal strains were calculated for loads of 10, 20 and 30 N and the percent difference between the longitudinal principal strain recorded by gauge "1" was determined. For loads of 40-100 N only 10 loading cycles were performed. Strain was only recorded from gauge "1" because it was deemed as an acceptable representation of the longitudinal principal strain (<5% difference). The average peak force, displacement and strain of 3 cycles were used for analysis.



Figure 3.6. Representative graph of the strain recorded from the three gauges on a femur. The 9 cycles between the red lines (3 cycles/gauge) were the ones used for analysis.

The ADMET provided displacement data based on the position of the loading platen. However the bone displacement and testing machine displacement are never exactly equal. The ADMET itself has internal compliance, meaning there will always be some displacement in the machine and its components when mechanical tests are performed. To determine the internal compliance of the ADMET, the setup was loaded with no bone and the natural displacement of the apparatus was established through the range of loads. From this data, a load-displacement graph was constructed and the line of best fit was determined. The equation of this line was used to correct the recorded displacement values at a given load. The extensometer was attached to the ADMET and therefore was also affected by the compliance of the apparatus. The compliance tests were performed with the extensometer as well and the displacement values recorded by the extensometer were adjusted accordingly.

3.4.4 Principal Strain Calculations

The principal strains were determined using the following equation

$$\varepsilon_{n} = \varepsilon_{x} \cos^{2}\theta + \varepsilon_{y} \sin^{2}\theta + \gamma_{xy} \cos\theta \sin\theta$$

where:

 $\varepsilon_x =$ gauge 1 strain $\varepsilon_y =$ gauge 3 strain $\gamma_{xy} =$ shear strain $\theta =$ angle of principal strain

The difference between the longitudinal principal strain and the measured longitudinal strain was calculated as follows:

Percent Difference = (longitudinal principal strain – measured longitudinal strain) longitudinal principal strain

3.4.5 Material Property Calculations

Three-point bending tests determine the mechanical properties of the bone as a structure and these properties are then used to determine the mechanical properties of the bone as a material. To transition between the two, the Euler–Bernoulli beam theory, the gold standard to determine material properties of bones from mechanical testing, is used. However, along with this test come a few assumptions and limitations. The first assumption is that the length to width ratio of the beam is sufficient. For bone, it is suggested that the length to width ratio be at least 20:1 to guarantee shear displacements are insignificant [112]. It is also assumed that the cross-section of the beam is a homogeneous, linear-elastic material [113]. The last assumption is that the beam is a homogeneous, linear-elastic material [113]. These assumptions pose some issues when examining rat long bones because bones are not perfect beams and cannot be machined to meet these criteria. These limitations must be taken into consideration when examining the results of three-point bend tests of bones.

Using linear beam theory and the applied load and measured longitudinal strain, the elastic modulus of the femurs was determined (Figure 3.7).

Elastic Modulus = stress/measured longitudinal strain where:

Stress =
$$\frac{\text{applied load*support distance (0.016mm)*Y}_{\text{post}}}{4*I_{xx}}$$



Figure 3.7. Schematic of a beam in 3-point bending. F is the applied load. *l* is the distance between supports. δ is the deformation or the distance the beam moves from the horizontal.





Figure 3.8. MicroCT cross-section of a femur at the mid-diaphysis. Y_{post} is the distance from the centre of the bone to the bottom (posterior) edge of the cortical bone.

3.4.6 Compression Tests

Compression tests of the strain gauged femurs were performed to load the bones in a more physiological type of loading and to also try to correct for some errors that can be caused by limitations of 3-point bending [113]. After the femurs were loaded in 3-point bending they were once again wrapped in saline soaked gauze and placed in the freezer. Approximately three months later the femurs were removed from the freezer and left to thaw for two hours. Marks were then made 8 mm from the midpoint on either end of the femur to create a mid shaft segment length of 16 mm. A length of 8 mm was chosen because it was a distance that produced fairly uniform sized cross-sectional areas on either end of the femur. Longer lengths resulted in mismatched cross-sectional areas and smaller lengths would have made the loading too close to the strain gauges. An Isomet low speed diamond wafer saw (Buehler, Lake Bluff, IL) was used to cut off both ends of the femur to form the diaphyseal segments. The segments were then measured to make sure that each end was within ± 1 mm of the desired 8 mm from the midpoint. The length was approximate because the width of the saw blade made it difficult to get the cuts perfect as did the actual measuring and marking of the bone. However, the length was not an influential factor in determining material properties.

The femurs were placed in the ADMET material testing machine with the proximal end on the bottom loading platen. To ensure the long axis of the femur was aligned perpendicular to the loading platens, a wobble board type of device was constructed (Figure 3.9). This allowed the femur to self align when loading was performed to help prevent uneven loading. If the long axis of the bone is not aligned perpendicular to the loading actuator, bending of the bone can occur and thus the resultant strain may be inaccurate.




Figure 3.9. Compression test setup. The bottom platen is able to move (wobble), allowing the long axis of the bone to align perpendicularly to the platens.

The femurs were cyclically compressed at a rate of 10 mm/min to loads of 20, 40, 60, 80 and 100 N. Force, displacement and strain were recorded as was previously done with the 3-point bend tests. At 60 N, strain was recorded from each of the 3 gauges, as was previously done with the 3-point bend tests, but only 18 cycles were performed and the last 9 were used. The percent difference between the calculated longitudinal principal strain and measured longitudinal strain from gauge "1" was determined to be within 5% so only strain from gauge 1 was recorded for 20, 40, 80 and 100 N loads and only 10 cycles were performed for the remainder of the tests.

3.5 Left Femur Failure Tests

The left femurs from all 38 male and female Wistar rats, used for the strain gauging tests, were used to examine the failure properties of the NC and HF bones. The

left femurs were excised and cleaned of soft tissue and then wrapped in saline soaked gauze and placed in Falcon tubes for storage in the freezer. The femurs were removed from storage and were thawed two hours prior to mechanical testing.

The same three-point bending setup that was used for the strain gauged right femurs was used for the failure test of the left femurs. The supports were placed 16 mm apart and bending was performed in the anterior-posterior direction with the anvil making contact with the mid-point of the femur. A 5 N preload was set and the downward displacement of the loading anvil was set at a rate of 10 mm/min until fracture. Force, displacement, and time were recorded for each test, and stored temporarily in the ADMET controller. After each test, load-displacement data were transferred to the WinCOM software package (ADMET, Norwood, MA) where it was then imported into Excel (Microsoft, Redmond, WA) for analysis. The displacement was also measured using a DVRT (M-DVRT-9, Microstrain, Williston, VT). Load-displacement curves were constructed from the data collected from the ADMET and DVRT and then analyzed to determine the femoral mechanical properties (Figure 3.10). The cross-sectional area properties of the right femur were assumed to be equivalent to the left femur [114] and thus were used for the determination of the material properties.



Figure 3.10. Representative load-deformation curve of a femur loaded in 3-point bending to failure. This curve was used to determine the mechanical properties of the femurs. The maximum load of the femur was the highest load the femur could withstand before failure; the highest point on the curve. The "proportional load" was the load at which the femur began to undergo plastic deformation; the end of the elastic or linear region of the curve (also known as the limit of the proportional load-deformation range). The proportional deformation was the deformation at the proportional load. The maximum deformation was the deformation at the maximum load. The stiffness was the slope of the curve in the elastic or linear region; it was calculated using a line of best fit, shown in red. The proportional energy was the area under the curve up the proportional load. The maximum energy was the area under the curve up to the maximum load.

3.5.1 Material Property Calculations

Using linear beam theory and the applied load and resultant femur deformation

from the ADMET and the DVRT, the elastic modulus of the femurs was determined

(Figure 3.6).

Elastic Modulus = applied load * (support distance (0.016mm))³ 48 * beam deflection* I_{xx}

where:

 I_{xx} = second moment of area

3.6 Statistics

To determine diet effects, within a gender, and gender effects, within a diet group, on body composition and bone properties, t-tests (SPSS Inc., Chicago IL) were used. To examine overall diet and gender effects a two-way analysis of variance (SPSS Inc., Chicago IL) was used. A significance level of p < 0.05 was used for all statistical tests.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

4.1 Rat Body Composition and Exclusions

4.1.1 Body Composition

The average body mass of the HF rats, both males and females, was significantly greater than NC (p < 0.05) (Table 4.1, Figure 4.1). The males were significantly heavier than the females in both the HF and NC groups. The average mass of the three fat pads (gonadal, mesenteric and perirenal) was approximately two times greater in HF males than NC males and three times greater in HF females compared to NC females. The percent body fat was significantly greater in the HF rats compared to NC for both genders. It was similar between genders for both the NC and HF groups.

4.1.2 Exclusions

Two rats were excluded from all analyses. One sibling pair, a HF male and HF female, had body masses below the NC average body mass and as such were deemed to be non-responders to the diet and were consequently excluded from all analyses. In addition to not gaining mass, the bone properties (cross-sectional area and moment of inertia) of these two animals did not show any differences from the NC.

Table 4.1.Rat body composition. Significant dietary differences within a gender are
denoted by * p < 0.05. Significant between gender differences in HF rats is
denoted by # p < 0.05 and in NC by $^{\wedge} p < 0.05$.

	Male		Female	
	NC	HF	NC	HF
Body mass (g)	660.7 ± 32.4	884.4 ± 92.1*	$360.9 \pm 29.1^{\circ}$	578.4 ± 57.3*#
Fat Pad Mass (g) ¶	43.4 ± 10.9	$105.6 \pm 28.4*$	$20.9 \pm 5.2^{\circ}$	72.0 ± 13.1*#
% Body Fat ¶¶	6.5 ± 1.4	$11.8 \pm 2.3*$	5.8 ± 1.0	$12.4 \pm 1.2*$

¶ Sum of mesenteric, perirenal, and gonadal fat pads

¶¶ fat pad mass expressed as a percentage of body mass



Figure 4.1. Final rat body mass [g]. HF body mass was significantly greater than NC for both the males and females (* p < 0.001). The body mass of the male and female HF non-responder (HF – NR) rats is also shown. The male rats had significantly greater body masses than the females for both the HF (# p < 0.001) and NC groups (^ p < 0.001).

4.2 Lamellar Bone Formation

There were no differences in the bone, calcein or alizarin perimeter between the right (loaded) and left (non-loaded) ulnas of the male or female rats in both the NC and HF groups (Table 4.2, Figure 4.2). There was no difference between the HF and NC groups for males or females for the three variables analyzed. The NC male ulnas did have a significantly great ulnar perimeter than the NC females. There was no difference in ulnar perimeter between the HF males and females. No clear separation between the calcein and alizarin labels was found in the HF and NC ulnas, indicating that the protocol used did not actually produce lamellar bone formation, as was intended.

Table 4.2. Bone, calcein and alizarin perimeters of the right and left ulnas. There were no significant dietary effects found for either males or females. The only significant difference was between the ulnar perimeter of the NC males and females; the males had a larger perimeter (*p < 0.05).

Perimeter (cm)	Limb	Male		Female	
	Right	NC	HF	NC	HF
Bone		6.90 ± 0.20	6.89 ± 0.53	$5.99 \pm 0.48*$	6.19 ± 0.33
Calcein		3.62 ± 1.48	3.08 ± 1.76	3.39 ± 1.25	3.06 ± 1.15
Alizarin		2.69 ± 1.85	2.89 ± 1.71	3.09 ± 1.25	2.73 ± 1.12
	Left				
Bone		6.90 ± 0.30	6.91 ± 0.27	$5.85 \pm 0.32*$	6.17 ± 0.56
Calcein		3.78 ± 1.72	3.45 ± 1.02	2.93 ± 1.21	2.65 ± 1.53
Alizarin		3.48 ± 1.56	3.02 ± 1.08	2.42 ± 1.03	2.37 ± 1.32

Values are means \pm standard deviation (STD)



Figure 4.2. Cross-sectional images of rat ulnas that underwent forelimb loading. These are representative images of a NC and a HF female rat that had their right forelimbs loaded. The left forelimbs served as non-loaded controls. The 120 μm sections were taken at the mid-diaphysis of the ulna, the area of highest strain, and therefore the area of potentially greatest bone formation. The green and red colours surrounding the ulnas show the calcein and alizarin labels, respectively. The labels are present where new bone has formed.

4.3 Right Femur 3-Point Bend Sub-Failure Strain Tests

4.3.1 Geometric Properties

The femoral length was significantly longer in the HF femurs compared to the NC for males and females (Table 4.3). The males also had significantly longer femurs compared to the females for both HF and NC. The cross-sectional area (XSA) (Table 4.3, Figure 4.3, 4.4) and second moment of area (Table 4.3, Figure 4.5) were significantly greater in HF femurs compared to NC femurs in both males and females. As well, the male femurs had significantly greater XSA and second moment of area than the female femurs in both the HF and NC groups.

4.3.2 Mechanical Properties

At each of the applied loads there was no significant difference in measured longitudinal femoral strain between HF and NC femurs for males or females (Figure 4.6). Male femurs had significantly lower strains than female femurs at each load for both the HF and NC groups. Based on the significantly larger femoral XSA, the HF bones would be expected to experience less strain at a given load if the modulus was similar between the groups. However, there was no difference in strain between the NC and HF groups.

The elastic modulus was calculated using the applied load and the measured longitudinal strain. There was no statistical difference in the calculated elastic modulus between HF and NC femurs for males or females (Figure 4.7). The elastic modulus for the male femurs was significantly greater than the female femurs for NC but not for the HF rats.

The elastic modulus was also calculated using the femur deformation at subfailure loads, 100 N for males and 60 N for females. The deformation was measured by a custom extensometer, the ADMET and a DVRT. As discussed in Methods Section 3.4.3, the extension and ADMET have an internal compliance associated with them, so the deformations were corrected based on this compliance. The ADMET deformation resulted in no significant differences in elastic modulus between the male or female NC and HF animals, although the NC femurs did tend to have a greater modulus (Appendix IV). There was also no significant difference between the male and female NC femurs or HF femurs. Using the extensometer deformation data, no significant differences were found between the elastic modulus of male or female NC and HF animals (Appendix IV). There was no significant difference between the male and female NC femurs. The HF female femurs did have a significantly greater modulus than the male HF femurs. The DVRT showed no significant modulus differences between the male or female NC and HF animals (Appendix IV). There was no also significant difference between the male and female NC femurs or HF femurs.

The extensometer and ADMET produced similar modulus values for each of the four groups with no significant differences between the male NC and HF or the female HF. However, for the female NC femurs there was a significant difference between the two methods of measuring deformation. The DVRT gave significantly greater modulus values for each of the experimental groups compared to the extensometer and ADMET.

4.3.3 Expected Strain in HF Femurs

The HF femurs had a significantly greater XSA than NC femurs. Based on linear beam theory, it would be expected that a greater cross-section would give rise to greater resistance to bending and the measured strain would be less. Despite the larger crosssection in HF femurs, a difference was not detected in measured strain between HF and NC femurs. The lack of difference in strain suggests that the HF bones are made of a more compliant material (so they bend more than expected). To test this, the average modulus of the NC femurs was used and an "expected" or "predicted" strain was calculated for the HF femurs (if they had the same modulus as the NC femurs). HF femur strain at 30N was predicted (HF-Pred E=NC) based on the average HF femur crosssectional area properties and the average NC modulus. Using beam theory calculations, the predicted HF femur strain was significantly lower than the NC strain at 30N for males and females (Figure 4.8).

4.4 Right Femur Sub-Failure Compression Strain Tests

The compression tests did not yield valid results. A few femurs were loaded in compression and strains were recorded, but these strains differed greatly between trials for the same femur, at the same load. The repositioning of the femurs between the loading platens caused them to be loaded differently resulting in different strains for the same applied load (Figure 4.9). Due to these differing strains for the same bone it was decided that the compression test would not be carried out on all bones and the unusual results would not be analyzed.

Table 4.3.Right femur geometric and mechanical properties. The bone properties
were determined from 3-point bend sub-failure tests. Significant dietary
differences within a gender are denoted by * p < 0.05. Significant between
gender differences in HF rats is denoted by # p < 0.05, in NC by $^{\wedge} p < 0.05$
and in HF-Pred E=NC by $\approx p < 0.05$. Significant differences between NC
and HF-Pred E=NC is denoted by * p < 0.05.

Property	Male		Female	
	NC	HF	NC	HF
Femur Length (mm)	43.3 ± 0.8	$44.3 \pm 0.9*$	38.5 ± 0.7^	39.2 ± 0.5*#
XSA (mm ²)	9.39 ± 0.71	10.47 ± 0.93*	6.99 ± 0.49^	7.67 ± 0.84*#
Second Moment of Area (mm ⁴)	13.20 ± 2.29	$16.82 \pm 3.31*$	7.36 ± 0.86^	8.84 ± 1.96*#
Strain at 30 N (με)	610.2 ± 65.2	554.4 ± 85.9	$1122.2 \pm 112.7^{\wedge}$	$1002.5 \pm 160.2 \#$
HF-Pred E=NC Strain at 30 N (με)		524.3 ± 86.9†		981.1 ± 180.5†≈
Elastic Modulus (GPa) (calculated using strain)	27.92 ± 2.93	26.45 ± 2.02	24.50 ± 3.13^	24.06 ± 2.95
Elastic Modulus (GPa) (calculated using deformation from Admet - corrected)	4.17 ± 0.87 (at 100 N)	3.46 ± 0.94 (at 100 N)	4.19 ± 0.45 (at 60 N)	3.70 ± 0.67 (at 60 N)

Values are means \pm STD





Figure 4.3. Representative microCT cross-section of a NC and HF femur at the mid-diaphysis.



Figure 4.4. Femoral cross-sectional area (XSA, mm²) at the mid-diaphysis. HF XSA was significantly larger than NC for both males (* p = 0.020) and females (* p = 0.040). The male femurs had significantly larger XSA compared to the females for both the HF (# p < 0.001) and NC (^ p < 0.001).



Figure 4.5. Second moment of area $[mm^4]$ of the femoral mid-diaphysis. The second moment of area was significantly greater between the HF and NC males (* p = 0.023) and females (* p = 0.039). The males had significantly greater second moment of areas compared to the females for HF (# p < 0.001) and NC (^ p < 0.001).



Figure 4.6. Longitudinal femoral strain [με] at the applied sub-failure loads in 3-point bending. Longitudinal strain was not different between HF and NC femurs for males or females. At each of the applied loads the strain in the male femurs was significantly less than in the female femurs for both HF and NC.



Figure 4.7. Femoral elastic modulus (E, GPa) calculated using measured longitudinal strain from 3-point bend tests. There was no significant difference in modulus between the HF and NC animals for either males (p = 0.264) or females (p = 0.760). The modulus for HF male femurs was greater compared to HF female femurs but the difference was not significant (p = 0.079). The modulus for NC male femurs was significantly greater than NC female femurs (^ p = 0.027).



Figure 4.8. Longitudinal femoral strain [$\mu\epsilon$] at an applied load of 30 N in 3-point bending. Femoral strain at 30 N did not differ between HF and NC for males (p = 0.165) or females (p = 0.072). The predicted HF femoral strain (HF-Pred E=NC), based on HF XSA properties and the NC modulus, was significantly less than the measured strain in NC males († p = 0.042) and females († p = 0.050). The strain in the NC, HF and HF-Pred E=NC male femurs was significantly less than in the NC (^ p < 0.001), HF (# p < 0.001) and HF-Pred E=NC ($\approx p < 0.001$) female femurs.



Figure 4.9. Longitudinal femoral strain [με] at an applied compressive load of 100 N. The measured strain was recorded over time for 5 compressive cycles. Each graph depicts the same femur loaded to 100 N, but each time the femur was repositioned between the loading platens.

4.5 Left Femur 3-Point Bend Failure Tests

4.5.1 Exclusions

One HF male (8U) was excluded from all analyses because it was a significant

outlier for several mechanical properties.

4.5.2 Mechanical Properties

The maximum load of the left HF femurs was greater than the NC for both

genders but the difference was not significant (Table 4.4, Figure 4.10). In addition, the

males had significantly greater maximum loads compared to the females for both the HF

and NC rats. There was no difference in proportional load between HF and NC males (Table 4.4). The proportional load was significantly greater in the HF female femurs compared to the NC. Once again the proportional load was significantly greater in male femurs compared to the female for both HF and NC. There were no dietary effects on the maximum or proportional deformations (Table 4.4). There were no gender differences for the HF femurs. The male NC femurs had a significantly greater maximum deformation compared to females. There were no dietary effects on maximum and proportional energy (Table 4.4, Figure 4.11). The males had a significantly greater maximum load compared to the females both the HF and NC. Only the proportional energy was greater in the NC males compared to the females. There was no difference in proportional energy between males and females in HF femurs. The stiffness was greater in the HF femurs compared to the normal controls for both genders but the difference was only significant for the females (Table 4.4, Figure 4.12). The males did have greater stiffness than the females for both HF and NC. There were no dietary or gender effects on the maximum stress of the femurs but the HF femurs tended to experience less stress than the NC and the males tended to experience greater maximum stress than the females (Table 4.4, Figure 4.13). Lastly, the elastic modulus, calculated using deformation, was greater in the NC femurs compared to the HF for males and females but the difference was not significant (Table 4.4, Figure 4.14). There were no gender effects shown in the elastic modulus although the female femurs did tend to have greater modulus values compared to males for both HF and NC. There was no significant difference between the modulus values of the right

femurs, calculated using deformation at sub-failure loads, and the left femurs, calculated using deformation at failure loads, for any of the groups (Table 4.4, Appendix IV).

Table 4.4.Mechanical properties of left femurs (all deformations are corrected for
internal compliance of the mechanical test system). The bone properties
were determined from 3-point bend failure tests. Significant dietary
differences within genders are denoted by * p < 0.05. Significant between
gender differences in HF rats is denoted by # p < 0.05 and in
NC by $^{\wedge} p < 0.05$.

Property	Male		Female	
	NC	HF	NC	HF
Maximum Load (N)	256.57 ± 21.39	273.10 ± 30.31	189.17 ± 12.59^	203.79 ± 23.02#
Proportional Load (N)	156.14 ± 18.38	154.59 ± 20.59	111.67 ± 13.12^	124.14 ± 8.39*#
Max Deformation (mm)	0.665 ± 0.059	0.659 ± 0.184	$0.585 \pm 0.064^{\circ}$	0.579 ± 0.054
Prop Deformation (mm)	0.193 ± 0.019	0.171 ± 0.031	0.185 ± 0.029	0.187 ± 0.012
Max Energy (mJ)	118.82 ± 20.27	115.93 ± 32.32	$75.20 \pm 12.72^{\circ}$	$80.72 \pm 14.91 \#$
Prop Energy (mJ)	16.33 ± 2.72	14.74 ± 4.35	11.57 ± 3.02^	12.73 ± 1.46
Stiffness (N/mm)	872.85 ± 112.20	990.79 ± 111.48	638.06 ± 67.50^	712.46 ± 53.71*#
Max Stress (N/mm ²)	174.39 ± 34.68	157.70 ± 41.66	159.45 ± 12.79	149.99 ± 18.76
Elastic Modulus (GPa) (calculated using deformation)	3.30 ± 0.77	2.82 ± 0.75	3.81 ± 0.50	3.53 ± 0.77

Values are means \pm STD



Figure 4.10. Maximum load [N] of the femurs in 3-point bending. The maximum load of the HF femurs did not differ from the NC for males (p = 0.228) or females (p = 0.093). The maximum load of the male femurs was significantly greater than the females for HF (#p < 0.001) and NC ($^{\circ} p < 0.001$).



Figure 4.11. Maximum energy [mJ] of the femurs in 3-point bending. There was no significant difference in the maximum energy of the HF and NC femurs for either the males (p = 0.833) or females (p = 0.396). The HF (# p = 0.014) and NC ($^p < 0.001$) male femurs did have significantly greater maximum energies compared to the females.



Figure 4.12. Femoral stiffness [N/mm] in 3-point bending. Stiffness of the male femurs was greater in the HF femurs compared to the NC but the difference was not significant (p = 0.053). The HF female femurs were significantly stiffer than the NC (* p = 0.020). The male femurs were significantly stiffer than the females for both the HF (# p < 0.001) and NC (^ p < 0.001).



Figure 4.13. Maximum femoral stress $[N/mm^2]$ in 3-point bending. Maximum stress was greater in the NC femurs compared to the HF femurs for males (p = 0.399) and females (p = 0.207) but the differences were not significant. There was no difference in stress between the male and female femurs for HF (p = 0.640) or NC (p = 0.204).



Figure 4.14. Femoral elastic modulus (E, GPa) calculated using maximum deformation from 3-point bend tests. The elastic modulus was greater in the NC femurs compared to the HF femurs for males (p = 0.229) and females (p = 0.352) but the differences were not significant. The females had greater modulus values compared to the males for the HF (p = 0.082) and NC (p = 0.098) but the differences were not significant.

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION

5.1 Discussion

The purpose of this project was to study the effects of obesity on the ability of bone to adapt to mechanical stimuli through the examination of bone structural and material properties and bone strain. The hypothesis was that male and female rats fed a lifelong high-fat diet, designed to induce obesity, would exhibit decrements in bone mechanical properties, thus altering bone strain during mechanical loading and consequently affecting bone adaptation. The findings did not support the hypothesis. No statistical differences in mechanical properties or strain were detected in the HF rats compared to the NC. However, femoral cross-sectional area properties (bone area and second moment of area) were increased in the HF rats.

Despite the significantly larger size of the HF femurs for both the males and females, there was only a tendency for them to have a greater maximum load, a structural property, as the difference was not significant compared to the NC femurs. In theory, with no difference in maximum load between the NC and HF femurs but significantly greater HF femoral cross-sectional area, the maximum stress, a material property, in the HF bones should be less. The stress tended to be less in the HF bones but the difference was not statistically significant. The stiffness, a structural property, tended to be greater in the HF male femurs than the NC male femurs, but again the difference was not statistically significant. The HF female femurs were significantly stiffer than NC. Once the stiffness

was normalized to the size of the bone and the material stiffness or the elastic modulus of the bone was examined, the HF femurs, for both genders, exhibited a lower modulus than the NC femurs, but the difference was not significant. There appears to be a tendency for the HF bones to have greater structural properties and diminished material properties compared to the NC bones. Based on the number of rats in the study the differences are not statistically significant, but there is a switch in these properties once the size of the bone is taken into account.

5.2 Dietary Effects on Bone

The HF diet in this thesis project was high in fat and sucrose but calcium and vitamin D replete (Table 3.3). However, vitamin D and calcium serum levels were not measured, and so whether the serum levels in the rats were adequate is unknown. Vitamin D may be sequestered by the large amount of adipose tissue found in the HF rats and thus they may not have access to a sufficient amount of available vitamin D. Both the high-fat and sucrose content in the HF diet are a realistic surrogate for what a significant segment of the North American population is consuming, those most at risk of obesity. Both the high-fat and sucrose levels could play a key role in the suspected compromised bone material properties seen in the HF rats.

The high saturated fat content of the HF diet may be contributing to the diminished material properties seen in the HF femurs. Atteh and Leeson [115] found that diets containing palmitic acid (saturated fat) led to low bone ash weight and bone calcium content and were associated with a reduction in bone magnesium content in broiler

chicks. The low bone mineral content was attributed to reduced mineral retention due to the formation of intestinal soaps [115]. An increased level of saturated fat in the diet impairs calcium absorption in the gut and intestine via formation of insoluble soaps [116-118]. Similar results were found in rats [3] and mice [57] fed diets high in saturated fats resulting in decrements in bone properties. The changes that were seen in the HF rat bones may be the result of the high saturated fat content of the diet causing the formation of intestinal soaps and thus adversely affecting both calcium absorption and retention and, in turn, altering mineral metabolism.

The high level of sucrose in the HF diet may have also adversely affected the HF bone. Diets high in sucrose can elevate blood insulin levels and induce hyperinsulinemia [119, 120] which in turn, produces hypercalciuria [121], as insulin can inhibit renal tubular resorption of calcium [122]. Calcium deficiencies resulting from high insulin levels can lead to poor bone mineralization [123], and can adversely influence bone mechanical properties [124]. Furthermore, high glucose levels can diminish renal reabsorption of magnesium [125], and magnesium depletion results in poor bone crystallization [126] and reduced bone turnover [127]. Insulin and glucose levels were not measured in the rats and if they were altered they could adversely affect the bone.

An increase in circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , might also contribute to poor bone properties. In mice fed a high-fat sucrose diet (HFS), serum tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) (a marker of bone resorption) levels were significantly elevated relative to controls while serum osteocalcin (a marker of bone formation) levels were not different between cohorts [57]. This suggests that ingesting a

HFS diet disrupted the balance between bone formation and resorption, favouring resorption. Lorincz et al. [57] suggested that the increase in TRAP activity measured in the HFS mice was caused by pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , which can affect bone resorption. Increases in TNF- α are associated with negative changes in bone metabolism [57]. Diets high in saturated fat can increase the release of TNF- α from adipose tissue [128] and expression increases with the level of obesity [129]. Increases in TRAP levels have been found in other animals fed a high-fat diet [54, 130], as well as decreases in osteocalcin [55, 130]. An increase in TNF- α was also shown in high-fat animals [130]. As the HF rats in the present study were obese and ingesting substantial amounts of saturated fat and sucrose, this group likely experienced elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines, which may have contributed to increased porosity and thus reduced material properties. However, the HF femures had greater cross-sectional area suggesting proinflammatory cytokines may not be increasing bone resorption.

An increase in the level of some hormones associated with a high-fat diet and obesity may have contributed to the suspected reduced material properties. An increase in IGF-1 and larger bone size has previously been associated with a high-fat diet in mice [61, 82]. Adipokine derived hormones, such as leptin, could also play a role in bone properties in HF rats. Leptin levels have been shown to increase in high-fat diet animals [55, 61, 82] but the results are equivocal, and the role of leptin remains unclear.

There are a number of different nutritional and hormonal factors that could or could not contribute to the effects of diet-induced obesity on bone properties. They work together and they work against each other so the overall outcomes and effects are inconsistent. Studies show different effects with similar hormonal changes. Without further research into the individual mechanisms there is currently no easy or definitive way to conclude the cause of the changes in the bone properties.

5.3 Geometric Properties

MicroCT scans revealed that the HF femurs, from both males and females, had significantly greater cross-sectional areas and second moments of area than the NC femurs. Interestingly the femoral length of the HF rats was significantly greater than NC for both genders. Several studies report no change in length as a result of a high-fat diet [4, 55, 57, 61, 82], but none reported an increase. Increased second moment of area [59, 61, 82] and bone cross sectional area have been reported for obese animals [58, 61, 82]. The greater bone size seen in high-fat diet animals is generally explained by the resultant increase in body mass. However, muscle mass is also thought to play a possibly greater role than simply body mass in the determination of bone size.

Support for the influence of lean mass and not body or fat mass on greater bone size and strength, as seen in the HF animals, comes from a study by Wetzsteon et al. (2008) [131]. They found substantially lower bone strength relative to body weight and body fat values in overweight (BMI \geq 85th percentile) compared to healthy weight (BMI \leq 75th percentile) children and a 16 month change in bone strength that was significantly associated with a change in lean mass and not weight or fat mass. This suggests that bone is adapted to muscle mass and not fat mass or body weight. Other recent studies have also shown that bone mass and geometry are associated with lean mass but not fat mass in children and adolescents [132, 133]. These results suggest that bone strength increases in response to greater muscle mass, but it may also increase to meet the added demands of extra body mass or to compensate for decrements in bone material properties, such as density, in obese individuals. Bone density may be decreased because of an accumulation of microdamage and the consequential bone turnover that may occur due to the increased loads on the bones in obese individuals [134]. This would then result in increased porosity in the cortical bone and thus, a lower apparent tissue density.

Increased muscle size and strength generates greater forces on the bone resulting in increased bone apposition on the periosteal surface, which adds bone away from the neutral axis, increasing bone area, and increasing the bone's resistance to bending demonstrated in enhanced bone strength. These findings are consistent with the mechanostat theory proposed by Frost, that suggests that bone adaptation is driven primarily by changes in mechanical load [135]. The highest loads on bone are generated by muscle forces, and not body weight or fat mass [136-138] so bone bending strength would be greater in the HF rats who theoretically have more muscle mass than NC rats because of their greater body mass. Although there was a tendency for the HF bones to exhibit greater strength, the difference was not significant. If the bones are significantly larger, as the microCT scans reveal, then their bending strength should be as well. Given this was not the case, something was apparently lacking in the bone below the structural level. As proposed above, the bone density may be lacking due to increased porosity and compensation for this increased porosity could have come from the addition of new bone to the existing bone, specifically the periosteal surface. The increase in bone area would

increase strength, and would keep strains within the target physiological levels. Based on the mechanostat theory and strain-dependent adaptation of bone, the ultimate goal of bone adaptation would be to keep the HF bone strain at its target or threshold level, to maintain bone metabolism. An increase in bone size is needed to do so.

The lack of change in bone cross-sectional area in the male and female HF rats that did not gain mass, implies one of three explanations: 1) that the increase in bone cross-sectional area is a result of the increased body mass imposing greater loads on the bone; 2) that the increase in bone size is required to compensate for the increase in body mass or 3) that fat mass is some how contributing to the greater bone size. Since an increase in fat mass is generally accompanied by an increase in muscle mass, the lack of increase in cross-sectional area may also be due to a lack of increase in muscle mass. In other studies, animals fed high-fat diets with resulting increased body mass either had no change in cortical bone area [3, 54, 55, 57], or had a significant increase in cortical bone area [61, 82]. In comparison, animals fed a high-fat diet that did not have greater body mass also had no change in bone mass [4, 58, 139]. Taken together, these findings suggest that an increase is body mass is necessary to cause an increase in bone size, but an increase in body mass is not sufficient to cause an increase in bone area. It does not appear that the high-fat diet itself is the cause of the increased bone size. Rather, an increased bone size is required to support the increase in body mass associated with the consumption of a high-fat diet.

A high-fat diet in mice resulted in an increase in lean mass and an increase in bone size [61]. However, a similar study showed no increase in lean mass from the high-fat

diet but there was an increase in bone size [82]. Both of these studies resulted in increased body mass suggesting that body mass is the contributing factor to the increased bone size and not muscle mass. Both studies, however, also found greater fat mass in the animals fed the high-fat diet so it may also be that the increased fat and its associated adipokines are causing the increase in bone size. This is only representative of two studies and therefore presents the need for further investigation into the main determinant of the increased bone size seen in obese animals.

The activity level of the rats could also be playing a role in the size of the bones, as more activity would mean more bone loading, both from increased muscular activity and body mass. If the HF rats had activity levels equal to the NC rats, the bones would experience more loading because of the increased body and muscle mass of the HF rats. Due to the large size of some of the HF male rats, it is highly possible that they did not experience as much physical activity as the smaller NC males or the females. If the HF rats are, indeed, less active but have greater muscle and body masses, and the NC rats are more active but have less muscle and body mass, then daily bone loading may be similar between them. However, since the activity levels of the rats were not monitored, the role of physical activity in bone loading and bone size in this study is unknown.

Determining the cause of the increased bone size is difficult. More work is needed in this area as support for the influence of muscle, fat and body mass on bone size can be found and in the end may involve a balance between them.

5.4 Femoral Material Properties

5.4.1 Elastic Modulus Calculations

One of the most commonly used methods for determining the mechanical properties of rat cortical bone is a three-point bending test of the rat femurs. To determine material properties of the bones from three-point bending tests, the Euler-Bernoulli beam theory is commonly used. There are, however, a few assumptions associated with this theory and some limitations when applying it to bone, particularly to a relatively short bone such as the rat femur. The first assumption is that the length-to-width ratio (aspect ratio) of the beam or in this case bone, should be at least twenty to obtain accurate results [112]. That is, the length of the bone should be twenty times the diameter. The aspect ratio for rat femurs is approximately four. This creates shear stresses, affecting results. Though it is possible to increase the aspect ratio, by moving the lower supports further apart, the femur shape changes quite dramatically towards the ends and the beam theory also assumes the cross-section of the bone is uniform throughout its length. The last assumption is that the structure being tested is made from a homogeneous, linear-elastic material. The material along the length of the femur transitions from cortical to trabecular bone. So, it is important to keep the loading support distance close enough to make sure the portion of the femur being tested has a relatively uniform cross-section and material composition. However, if the loading supports are too close together the local deformation that occurs at the contact points could influence results.

When loading a short bone in three-point bending, shear stresses result. The creation of shear stresses means that some of the elastic strain energy will be lost to or be

taken up by the shear that is created during the bending of such a short bone. This means that although no shear strain is actually being recorded at the surface of the bone, shear stresses are dominating the normal stresses and the deformation being measured is not the result of only normal stresses acting upon the bone but rather a result of both shear and normal stresses. To reduce the shear stresses, the loading support distance would need to be increased. If the support distance were to increase, so would the deformation measurements for two reasons: first, the normal stress would increase (the bending moment gets greater as the supports go wider) and second, the shear stress would take up relatively less of the elastic strain energy and therefore cause less deformation. The amount of shear stress does not decrease but rather its contribution to the stresses experienced by the bone decreases, and so, the normal stress now dominates and the deformation measured is a result of the normal stress. It has been estimated that shear stresses cause 15 to 20% of the measured deformation in bending tests of short whole rodent bones [112]. This causes the measured displacement to be greater than the actual bone deformation resulting in overestimation of strain and underestimation of the elastic modulus [112].

Using too small of a length-to-width ratio has been found to cause an underestimation of the elastic modulus, and, by increasing it, the error in the modulus can be reduced [140]. van Lenthe et al. [113] determined the effects of bone geometry and support width on elastic modulus as calculated from three-point bend tests using finite element analysis, a widely accepted method for the mechanical evaluation of bone samples. They found that tissue moduli are strongly underestimated and the extent of

underestimation depends on bone size and shape. Because the assumptions of beam theory include the shape of the bone, these findings do not seem unreasonable.

Elastic modulus values of rat femora vary throughout the literature (Table 5.1). The limitations associated with three-point bending tests and beam theory, the most commonly used method to evaluate the modulus of bone, may be the reasons for the varying numbers in the literature. Modulus values have been reported to be as low as 1 GPa [4, 141] and typically in the range of 3-9 GPa [4, 141-145] when using the resultant deformation from three-point bend tests to calculate the values. The values of modulus calculated based on deformation in the current study were in the same range (2.8-3.5 GPa). In comparison, Keller et al. [6, 146] used the strain measured from the anterior surface of femurs during cantilever bending to calculate modulus values of male Sprague Dawley rat femurs and found values between 22 and 40 GPa. In the current study, the modulus values calculated from strain measurements during three point bending were in the same range (25-30 GPa).

Modulus values, calculated using deformation from three-point bend tests, are very low, and when strain is used values are higher. The deformation used in the calculations is overestimated because it is the result of bending and shear, and therefore the modulus will be underestimated. The strain measured will be more accurate because there is no shear at the surface of the bone where the strain is being recorded. Therefore using measured bone strain, from three-point bend tests, appears to be the more accurate way to evaluate the modulus. The modulus values found for the HF and NC femurs from three-point bend tests seem to be reasonable and fall closely in line with what the

literature shows based on similar calculations.

Table 5.1.	Rat femoral modulus values found in the literature. The values were
	calculated from either strain or deformation and in different rat strains and
	genders.

Author	Modulus	Method of	Rat Strain	Gender
	Value	Calculation		
	(GPa)			
Keller et al. [6, 146]	22 - 40	strain	Sprague Dawley	male
Battraw et al. [114]	18.5 - 23	strain	Sprague Dawley	female
Ferretti et al. [141]	1 - 3	deformation	Wistar	male, female
Nakamura et al. [142]	2.7	deformation	Wistar	male
Fox et al. [143]	1.9	deformation	Sprague Dawley	female
Feldman et al. [144]	3	deformation	Sprague Dawley	female
Ward et al. [4]	3 - 9	deformation	Fisher 344	male, female
Hogan et al. [145]	6.5 - 9	deformation	Sprague Dawley	female
Currey et al. [147]	12 - 18	deformation	Wistar	female

Other methods used to determine bone elastic modulus are nanoindentation and ultrasonic tests. Two studies using nanoindentation to examine the elastic modulus of rat femurs found values of approximately 19 GPa [148, 149]. Using ultrasound, Kohles et al. [150] found modulus values ranging between 22 and 26 GPa depending upon rat age and Vanleene et al. [151] reported modulus values between 8 and 20 GPa for male Wistar, rats depending upon age. These results are very close to the modulus value reported for the human femur in compression (17 GPa) [19]. Based on these findings, it seems as though there are more accurate methods to evaluate rat femora modulus values than three-point bend tests, but if that is the only available method, then calculating it using strain measurements is the more appropriate method.

Lastly, the elastic modulus calculated from three-point bend tests is not a test of the material in its intended loading direction and, as discussed above, is associated with many limitations and problems. Bone is an anisotropic material and therefore it exhibits different properties depending upon the direction of loading. The modulus calculated from compression tests, however, is a better indication of how the material behaves under physiological loading. Unfortunately because the compression testing was unable to be performed, the modulus of the femurs in compression could not be determined, leaving room for future investigation.

5.4.2 Material Properties

The modulus of elasticity is a material property of the bone and describes the stiffness of the bone material being tested. The modulus was calculated using the measured strain from the three-point bend tests and the femoral cross-sectional properties. It was also calculated using the deformation from the three-point bending at sub failure and failure loads and the cross-sectional properties. Though there are limitations with using such a calculation for determining absolute material properties, it is useful for determining the modulus for relative comparison between the NC and HF femurs. No differences were found between the NC and HF femur modulus values for the males or females for any of the three methods of calculating the modulus. However, the NC males did have a significantly greater modulus than the NC females when the modulus was calculated using strain. When the modulus was calculated using deformation, no gender differences were found. So, based on the modulus calculations, the NC and HF animals

have the same quality of bone material. The lack of change in the elastic modulus as a result of the diet is in agreement with another study examining the effects of a high-fat diet in rats [4]. There was no dietary effect on the modulus in the female rats, but a lower modulus was found in the high-fat males. Li et al. [58] also found no change in the elastic modulus of tibias from rats fed a high-fat-sucrose diet.

Based on the results of the strain measurements in which the NC and HF rats experienced the same level of strain at each of the applied loads, and the microCT scans revealed that the HF femurs had a significantly greater XSA compared to the NC femurs, the modulus of the HF femurs should, theoretically, be lower than the NC. There was, however, no statistical difference in moduli. The XSA of the femurs, based on microCT scans should be accurate, implying the calculated elastic modulus is not appropriate for the measured strain results. If the strains are the same but the femoral size is larger in the HF rats, then the bone material must be lacking something to cause equivalent strain. The calculated modulus values could very well be inaccurate due to the limitations of applying beam theory to bones, or it could be that the material differences are present but undetectable by mechanical testing and subsequent analysis.

If the bone material was the same (*i.e.*, same modulus) but the HF femurs had greater cross-sectional area, then the HF femurs should have had significantly reduced strains compared to NC femurs, but they did not. To investigate this further, the strain in the HF femurs was calculated for the 30 N load level using the average NC modulus and the HF cross-sectional area properties. The resulting "predicted" HF femur strain (HF-pred E=NC) was significantly less than the NC strain, suggesting that the HF femurs were in fact different at the material level compared to the NC femurs. To determine the material differences further tests must be completed. These may include examining BMD or BMC or examining the microstructure of the cortical bone.

As mentioned earlier, more than 80% of the variation in the elastic modulus in cortical bone can be explained by matrix mineralization and porosity [20]. Poor matrix mineralization can result from the high saturated fat and sucrose levels in the diet, which interferes with calcium absorption and utilization. As well, the inflammatory state associated with obesity may increase bone resorption leading to increased bone porosity. Bone density may be reduced because of an accumulation of microdamage and the subsequent increase in bone turnover that may occur due to the increased loads on the bones in obese individuals [134]. This would then result in increased porosity and thus, a lower tissue density. There is a well established positive correlation between body weight, which increases bone loading, and areal BMD, as measured by DEXA in humans [5]. However, increases in BMD are not found in animals fed a high-fat diet despite increases in body mass compared to controls [3, 57, 61, 82]. Moreover, a decrease in bone mass has also been reported [55]. So despite increased bone loading, BMD may not be sufficient for the HF rats. In addition, Ionova-Martin et al. [82] used SEM to show that high-fat diet mice had reduced tissue organization, alignment of osteocyte lacunae and lamellae compared to controls. As well, a diet high in fat has been shown to cause a significant accumulation of adipocytes in the bone [56], potentially a sign that mesenchymal stem cells have differentiated in favour of adipocytes and not osteoblasts. This, in turn, could alter bone metabolism and affect bone properties. All of these bone changes could be
contributing to the suspected poor bone material properties in the HF rats.

5.5 Femoral Strain

By extrapolating the measured strain data for the HF and NC male and female femurs and using their respective maximum load data, the predicted failure strains were determined to be approximately 4800 $\mu\epsilon$ for the male femurs and 6800 $\mu\epsilon$ for the females. These values are in line with normal bone failure strains of 4500-7000 $\mu\epsilon$ [18] suggesting the strains being measured at the applied loads are realistic and the testing was appropriate.

It has been shown that it is not just bone geometry or bone material that determines bone strain, but rather strain is a function of both [6, 152]. Indrekvam et al. [153] found an increased load bearing capacity with age in adult rats, and despite increased mineralization and a lower rate of collagen synthesis contributing to stiffer bone with age, strains remained constant across the lifespan. This was likely due to the larger cross-sectional dimensions found in the older bones. Keller and Spengler [6] also found that although rat body weight and midshaft femoral geometry increased over 3-fold and 6-fold respectively from 6-18 weeks to over 18 weeks of age, respectively, the peak values of the *in vivo* strains remained unchanged. Similar results have also been found in growing chicks [154]. This seems to be the same phenomenon that is occurring in the HF bones. The HF diet femurs tended to be stronger and stiffer (both structural properties), likely due to their greater cross-sectional area, but they exhibited the same strain (nonsignificantly lower than NC) as the NC rats. The older rats also tended to have lower strains than the younger ones [153]. These results from the aging rats and HF rats suggest the existence of a minimum effective strain. There seems to be a coordinated effort between both bone geometric and material properties to target this predetermined level of strain to keep bone structurally sound. Regardless of what is happening to the bone, whether it be growth, aging or a change in diet, as long as it is not too drastic, it appears that bone has the ability to adapt to the changes accordingly, in order to maintain a target level of strain. Controlling strain is important for the maintenance of bone because too much or too little can compromise the mechanical properties. Adaptive modeling during growth appears to take place to target this predetermined level of strain to preserve bone structural integrity.

One of the initial goals of this thesis project was to examine bone adaptation in response to mechanical loading. Bone adaptation is thought to occur in response to strain. The rat forelimb loading model is commonly used and involves compression of the forelimb along its longitudinal axis to a specified strain based on correlation with an externally applied load. A specific load, however, may result in different strains in the bone depending upon the size and material of the bone. To establish an appropriate model for producing lamellar bone, the strains in both the HF and NC bones needed to be the same. Based on the theory of strain-mediated bone adaptation [22], if the strains differ then the subsequent bone responses would also differ. Lamellar bone formation requires enough strain to produce bone but not so much as to damage the bone and invoke a reparative or woven bone response. Determining that the strains in the HF and NC ulnas. This suggests that

at a given load, the HF and NC forelimbs will experience the same strains and therefore the bone will receive the same signals. It is unknown whether or not the same strains, and theoretically the same signals, will induce the same amount and type of bone formation in the HF and NC bones. There are many factors involved with obesity that could affect the bone response to strain, and ultimately, bone adaptation.

The strain in rat femurs has been measured previously *in vivo*, during locomotion, but the number of studies is limited. Keller and Spengler [155] attached rosette strain gauges to the anterior-lateral surface of the femoral mid-diaphysis of male Sprague Dawley rats and recorded the strain as the rats walked on a wheel. They recorded axial strains between -260 and -280 μ E. The same procedure was performed again and average peak axial strains were between -260 and -330 μ E [6] and -400 μ E in another similar study [146]. Indrekvam et al. [153] used single strain gauges attached to the anterior surface of femurs of male Wistar rats to record peak strains between -180 and -390 μ E while walking. Wehner et al. [156] developed a numerical musculoskeletal inverse dynamics model of the rat's hindlimb to calculate musculoskeletal loads during gait. They calculated peak axial strains that were only 2 μ E (~1%) below the range of the *in vivo* strains measured by Keller and Spengler [6, 155]. Thus recorded *in vivo* strains are fairly consistent across studies.

However, it is difficult to compare the femoral strains measured in this thesis to the femoral strains reported in the literature because the strains were recorded under different loading conditions. A bone responds differently in three-point bending compared to compression. Cortical bone is strongest along its long axis under

compression. Using their numerical musculoskeletal model, Wehner et al. [156] showed that internal forces and moments varied along the femoral axis as well as over the gait cycle, but the greatest internal force in the femur acted in the longitudinal direction during gait. These maxima varied from 6.0 bodyweight (BW) in the proximal femur to 7.0 BW in the distal femur. Maximum shear forces were much lower in magnitude, 0.9 BW on the proximal femur and 0.6 BW on the distal femur.

In three-point bend tests the femur is loaded transversely, resulting in compression on the anterior surface and tension on the posterior surface; not in compression along its long axis, as is the case *in vivo*. Secondly, *in vivo* strains are a function of the whole musculoskeletal system as opposed to *ex vivo* where only the bone is being tested. The only literature that examined rat femoral strains *ex vivo* did not report their strain findings. *Ex vivo*, there is no muscle activity and the bone is being tested in a nonphysiological loading manner. Although the femur does undergo some bending the greatest forces act compressively, not in the direction the strains were measured in this thesis. However, the actual strain values are not as critical as the overall general trends that show that a high-fat diet does not alter longitudinal bone mechanical strain during three-point bending.

Walking produces peak strains in the leg bones or hind limbs usually less than 1000 $\mu\epsilon$ in most animals [18] and, in the case of rats, less than 400 $\mu\epsilon$. Humans can maintain normal bone with little activity, and the most intense exercise produces strains no more than 3000 $\mu\epsilon$ [18]. This suggests that the level of strain key to determining bone geometric and mechanical properties may not be the rare peak strains generated during

strenuous activity, but rather the consistent daily loading of low-magnitude, highfrequency strains [157]. If it is the daily loading of the bones that determines bone properties, then, in the case of the HF rats, the bone strains may have increased as they grew and gained mass because of gradually increased loading. This would, in turn, have caused bone apposition to occur with increasing bone size, as seen in the HF rats. The strains would then return to the target level until new loads were applied. The HF bones would have required the ability to adapt to mechanical loading in this case and therefore, decrements in bone adaptation may not be seen in the HF rats when they are mechanically loaded. However, the strains produced by mechanical loading are much greater than average daily strains and therefore the ability of the HF bones to adapt to these unusually high non-physiological strains may be altered.

5.6 Femoral Mechanical Properties

Three-point bend failure tests were performed on the left femurs to determine the mechanical properties of the femurs. The tests showed that the HF diet had little effect on the structural properties. The male and female HF animals had a tendency to have greater proportional and maximum loads and stiffness, but the only significant difference was greater stiffness in the HF female femurs compared to NC. No differences have been found before between high-fat diet animals and controls with respect to stiffness [83], but the diet only lasted four weeks. Since there was no difference in maximum load, the HF rats also tended to have lower maximum stresses than the NC, given their larger femoral size.

The male femurs, however, did exhibit higher maximum and proportional loads, maximum energy and stiffness compared to the females in both the NC and HF groups. This is expected given the significantly greater size of the male femurs compared to the female femurs. The male NC femurs also had significantly greater maximum deformation than the female NC femurs likely because of their greater size. As well, the proportional energy of the NC male femurs was significantly greater than the females. Given that the proportional deformation was not significantly different between genders, the reason for the difference in energy would lie in the significantly greater stiffness of the male femurs. The maximum stress did not differ between the male and female femurs. This is not surprising given that the male femurs were significantly larger and had greater maximum loads and the female femurs were smaller with lower loads. Stress is normalized load to the size of the bone so a large load normalized to a large bone and a small load normalized to a small bone could result in similar values.

The material properties of the left femurs were determined by applying beam theory to the data derived from the load-deformation curves of the three-point bend tests and the cross-sectional area properties of the right femurs. No significant differences in material properties, as determined by the elastic modulus, were found between the NC and HF femurs for the male or female animals. The HF femurs did have lower elastic moduli than the NC, but the differences were not significant.

Ionova-Martin et al. [61, 82] conducted two studies with a comparable diet regime to this thesis and found similar results. The lengths of the diets were 19 and 16 weeks, about half as long as the one examined in this study but lengthier than most reported in

the literature, and they began at four and three weeks of age, respectively. Their findings were similar to the current study with increases in bone size and second moment of area. They did, however, find significantly reduced material properties in the femurs as demonstrated by the decreased maximum and yield stress, and elastic modulus in the high-fat diet femurs. One study found no change in maximum load [61] whereas another found a decrease in the maximum load [82] in high-fat animals. Although significant differences were not seen in the material properties of the HF femurs in this thesis, trends toward diminished material properties were shown.

These thesis results show similar trends to other studies, regarding high-fat diet effects on bone, but lack statistically significant differences. Most studies have shown significant decrements in material properties with changes in bone size being inconsistently reported. Possible explanations as to why there was no effect on the material properties of the HF femurs in this study may include the length of the diet. Most studies implemented diets half the length of this thesis. It may be that bone possesses the ability to adapt to the poor long-term diet in order to minimize the effects on the bone. It is as though the bone is reaching a new steady state to maintain homeostasis. This may be what occurred in the HF bones in this project. The diet had been maintained for such a length of time that the bones are able to reach a new equilibrium. Interestingly, Zernicke et al. [3] found no change in the material properties of female rat femoral necks after a two year long high-fat-sucrose diet but, Hou et al. [139] found reduced material properties after only 10 weeks of the diet. These two studies suggest that the body is able to adapt to the diet to lessen the effects on the bone. It could also be that the diet is indeed affecting the bone material, but in ways that are not detectable by mechanical testing and subsequent analysis.

It is difficult to compare these thesis findings to other studies examining the effects of a high-fat diet for several reasons. The first issue when comparing studies is the animals themselves. Some studies use rats, others mice and some even use poultry. The gender of the animals also varied between studies and this can play a role in diet effects as seen in this thesis and other studies. A second reason for the difficulties is the diet composition. Each study uses a different diet composition. Some diets are just high in fat whereas others are high in fat and sucrose. Many studies record and keep track of the dietary behaviours so as to have an idea of the number of ingested calories and the amount of fat the animals are consuming, but many others do not. This makes it difficult to compare studies because the animals are not consuming the same type or amount of food, which can greatly influence weight gain and, theoretically, effects on bone. The length of the diet is also a factor. Much of the literature regarding the effects of a high-fat diet on bone involves only short-term diet durations of 10-16 weeks. This thesis study placed animals on the high-fat diet for 36 weeks, three times as long as most other studies. The diet duration can play a large role in its effects on the body and bones. If the animals are placed on the diet for too short a period of time, the effects of the diet may not be detectable. If the animals are on the diet for an extended period of time, the effects may be minimized because of adjustment or normalization of the body in response to the diet (e.g., current data and Zernicke et al. [3]). As well, if the diet is started at a young age then it could affect bone development whereas if it is started after skeletal maturity the

effects may be less pronounced [59]. Finally, the bone being examined in each study varied. Many studies looked at the vertebra and tibia and, as in this study the femur. The vertebrae are a non-weight bearing site whereas the femur and tibia are both weight bearing sites. The majority of the time a high-fat diet also caused an increase in body mass and therefore weight bearing sites may have experienced different changes in the bone environment in comparison to non weight bearing sites. As well, the type of bone under investigation, cortical or trabecular, varied between studies. Trabecular bone is more responsive to diet treatments than cortical bone because it is more metabolically active due to a greater surface to volume ratio than cortical bone allowing it to be remodeled more. All of the above factors not only make it difficult to compare studies but provide some explanations as to why there are so many inconsistencies between studies. The methodologies vary so much between studies that it is difficult to determine the cause(s) of bone changes.

5.7 Lamellar Bone Formation

No lamellar bone was formed in any of the ulnas as there were no distinct layers of bone formed or any distinct label separation seen. As a result, the label perimeters were determined. No differences were found in the calcein or alizarin perimeters between the right and left ulnas of the male and female rats in either the NC and HF groups. There were also no differences in the label perimeters between NC and HF ulnas for either gender. The reason for no bone formation is more than likely due to the lack of bone stimulation; that is to say that the loading protocol was insufficient to induce changes in bone formation. It appears as though the loads applied did not stress the bone enough to cause sufficient strain to induce bone formation. It is also possible that the animals were too old, and the bones were less responsive to the prescribed loading protocol. Studies have shown that the strain threshold for osteogenesis is increased with age and the osteogenic response is suppressed [158-160].

Robling et al. [23] proposed that three factors that affect bone adaptation: a dynamic stimulus, duration of loading and accommodation to loading. The lamellar loading protocol applied here had a dynamic stimulus, which is the primary stimulus of bone adaptation [161, 162], a load applied at a frequency of 2 Hz. The minimum effective frequency was 0.5 Hz, and bone formation increased as loads were applied at higher frequencies up to approximately 10 Hz [163]. Experimental results demonstrated that the stimulus for bone formation was increased if either the magnitude or frequency of loading was increased [23]. The magnitude of the load used in this study may have been too low at only 15 N. It has been estimated that the rat forelimb normally withstands anywhere between 60-70% of body weight during normal locomotion [164] and the ulna itself carries about 65% of the total load [165]. Theoretically, given the average male body mass of the HF and NC rats was approximately 800 g, their body weight alone would cause a load of about 4.8-5.6 N on the forelimb and 3.4 N of that would be on the ulna. The forelimb compression model uses hyper-physiological loads in the range of 5-7 times the animal's body weight. So, loads of approximately 20 N could be applied to the male rats.

The loading may have been too long in this protocol without sufficient rest. It has

been shown that bone loses more than 95% of its mechanosensitivity after only 20 loading cycles [23]. It is thought that, if given time to rest, the cells may then be able to respond to the loading again. Resensitization has been shown to occur in seconds or hours depending on the nature of the loading stimulus. Time to rest is needed between loading bouts as well as between cycles. Experiments have shown that there is an osteogenic benefit of short-term (on the order of seconds) recovery periods in restoring sensitivity to loaded bone [166]. The number of loading cycles chosen was likely too low as well. Most literature cites over 100 cycles while this study only used 50. The number of cycles should be greater with appropriate rests inserted.

Lastly, the bone cells may have become accommodated to the loading routine. Bone adapts to mechanical loading because it senses a new loading state and therefore it must adjust accordingly. Bone cells must be stimulated above a certain threshold in order for a mechanical signal to cause a cellular response [22]. This threshold is a product of local loading history. Experiments show that the initial loading stimulus has the greatest influence on bone formation, not the long-term accumulation of loading [167]. Other experiments show that inserting a rest and stopping loading can reverse the effects of accommodation and restore mechanosensitivity [168]. The bones in this thesis were loaded for 5 consecutive days using the same loading protocol each day, likely resulting in accommodation. A better protocol would likely employ rest days between bouts of loading so the bone recognized each loading bout as new. Robling [169, 170] and Saxon [168] demonstrated that loading at 2 Hz with 360 cycles for at least 10 days of loading over at least two weeks with rest between loading bouts produced measurable lamellar

bone formation.

Mosley et al. [171] examined ulnar strains in male Sprague Dawley rats (approximately 300 g) during unrestricted locomotion (running) on a solid level surface and the peak compressive strains varied between animals from 700 to 1200 µE. These strains would maintain bones but they would not be osteogenic, or more simply would not stimulate bone formation. Strains above these would be required to signal the bone of a new loading condition and then the bone would adjust accordingly by forming new bone to lessen the strains and get them back to the normal level. Hsieh et al. [79] assessed bone formation in relation to strain in female Sprague Dawley rats (approximately 300 g) using various loads and 360 cycles/day at 2 Hz for 10 days. They found that axial loading greater than 10 N was needed to induce new bone formation on the periosteal surface at the midshaft of the ulna, the point of greatest strain. The threshold strain for osteogenesis was 2284 µE at the ulnar midshaft. A 15 N load produced 3000 µE. In comparison to the loading protocol chosen for this thesis, a much larger number of cycles were performed each day and twice as many loading days were used. This may mean that the current loading protocol did not have enough loading cycles or days of loading especially since these rats were smaller than the NC and HF rats, on average. It is only speculation, but given the size of the rats used in this thesis, a 15 N load probably did not cause ulnar strains as high as 3000 µc or even high enough to reach the threshold for osteogenesis shown in the Hsieh et al. [79] study, which may not necessarily be the threshold for osteogenesis in these HF and NC rats. Therefore the ulnar strains caused by the loading were probably too low to induce bone formation.

It has been recently demonstrated that a four week long protocol with loading performed three days per week to loads of 21 N at 2 Hz, for 20 cycles followed by 20 seconds of rest and then another 20 cycles, for a total of 300 cycles per day can produce lamellar bone in 20 week-old male Sprague Dawley rats (approximately 620 g) [172]. A protocol such as this addresses the three factors of bone adaptation, and incorporates the needed features of a complete protocol for inducing lamellar bone formation.

5.8 Exclusions/Non-responders

Genetics play a role in the susceptibility of an individual to obesity, but so do environmental factors. A genetic predisposition to be obesity-prone or resistant has been shown in animal models [173, 174]. Standard murine models for studying dietary obesity are different in their susceptibility to obesity, and Sprague-Dawley and Wistar rats can be easily categorized to prone and resistant phenotypes with *ad libitum* access to high-fat diets [175, 176].

Exposing some animals to a high-fat diet caused them to become obese (obesity prone), whereas exposing other animals to the same diet did not cause them to become obese (obesity resistant) [177, 178]. It was more of a continuum of response to the high-fat diet [179] but as with a continuum there will always be animals at the extremes. These different responses have been attributed to higher energy intakes in obesity-prone animals [180-183], but with similar intakes sometimes seen in prone and resistant animals, the suggested susceptibility in these animals was thought to come from the capability to store energy more efficiently [184, 185].

Other suggested mechanisms for the difference between the response of prone and resistant animals to high-fat diets are that prone animals have lower fat oxidation [179, 185, 186], increased lipoprotein lipase activity in their adipose tissue and no change in lipoprotein lipase activity of their muscles which favours fat storage [180, 186, 187]. However, Commerford et al. [183] showed that obesity prone male Wistar rats fed a high-fat diet did not have a greater capacity for lipogenesis or retention of dietary fat, and that a characteristic increase in energy intake, associated with obesity prone rats, appeared to be necessary and critical to accelerated weight and fat gain. Therefore, increased energy intake plays a central role in dietary induced obesity.

In this thesis project, one HF male and one HF female sibling pair were excluded from all analyses because they had body masses below the NC average body mass and, as such, were deemed to be non-responders to the diet. In addition to not gaining mass, the bone properties (cross-sectional area and moment of inertia) of these two animals did not show any differences from the average NC. These rats would be considered to be obesity resistant. The lack of weight gain as well as having about half the fat mass as the average HF rat suggests that these two rats were some how able to minimize the effects of the high-fat diet.

Several studies have shown that approximately half of the rats exposed to a highfat diet will not become obese [83, 179, 188, 189]. Studies specifically examining a highfat diet and bone also demonstrated a lack of body mass increase in animals fed a high-fat diet. Salem et al. [84], Hou et al. [139] and Li et al. [58] found no change in the body mass of female Sprague-Dawley rats placed on a high-fat-sucrose diet for 10 weeks. It

was suggested that the animals were able to adjust their caloric intake to maintain their body mass. Another study showed that along with no difference in body mass, the percent body fat of young female rats on a high-fat sucrose diet was not different from controls [120]. Ward et al. [4] also found no difference in body mass between their control and western-style diet male and female rats. The mean daily food intake of the male and female rats fed the western-style diet was significantly less than that of the control group, and despite a higher energy content in the western-style diet, energy intakes were also less among the male and female rats fed the western-style diet. This study supports the notion presented by Commerford et al. [183] that energy intake must be increased in order for a change in body mass to be seen.

Food and energy intake were not recorded for the NC or HF rats in this thesis project, so it cannot be discerned whether it was truly a lower energy intake that resulted in the two rat siblings being deemed non-responders (obesity resistant) or if genetics were a factor. The fact that the only two rats that were non-responders were siblings provides strong support for a genetic component in this thesis and obesity in general. Studies suggest that among different populations, the prevalence of obesity is largely determined by environmental factors. However, among individuals from the same population, living in a given environment, the variability in body size and body composition is mostly related to a genetically determined response to that environment [190]. Since the rats were provided with the same environment and were of the same strain, the nonresponders likely did not gain weight because of their genetics.

With only 2 out of 19 rats not responding to the diet, a definitive conclusion cannot be drawn regarding the mechanisms behind the lack of increased body mass. The percentage of non-responders is well below the average reported by several studies and may be attributed to the rat strain, the diet or genetics. However, the limited number of non-responders or obesity resistant animals does provide some insight into how a high-fat diet can or cannot affect animals and bone.

5.9 Limitations

A limitation of this thesis was the sample size. Due to the litter pairings and the sacrifice of some rats before nine months, there were only approximately eight rats per group. Generally, for mechanical testing, a sample size of twelve is used. The power to detect change in the measured variables between diet groups is smaller when fewer animals are used. If the sample size had been increased, dietary induced effects on bone may have been seen. For example, a post-hoc analysis for sample size revealed that sixteen males per group and nine females per group were needed to have the power to detect a dietary difference in strain. This suggests that given an increased sample size, strain may have been statistically greater in HF rats. A post-hoc analysis for sample size also revealed that twenty-five males per group and 329 females per group were needed to have the power to detect a dietary difference in modulus calculated using strain and twenty-one males per group and thirty-five females per group were needed to have the power to detect a dietary difference in modulus calculated using deformation. The large estimated sample sizes needed to detect modulus differences may suggest that there is no

effect of diet on modulus. It may be that if a larger sample size were used, a significantly lower strain would have been detected in the HF femurs due to their greater crosssectional area properties, and the modulus would not have been lower as is suspected. Retrospectively, the statistics can be examined but it does not change the results found.

One limitation that could play a significant role in the strain measurements obtained is the position of not only the strain gauge on the bone but also the positioning of the bone on the loading supports. The strain gauges were attached at the midpoint of each of the femurs and care was taken to ensure the location was the same on each femur in terms of positioning at the midpoint of the bone and at its centre. Upon completion of testing, the location of the gauges was compared across all femurs. The resulting measured strain values were also compared to gauge placement to ensure there were no significant outliers. Positioning of the bones on the supports was done the same way each time ensuring the bone was in the middle of the two lower supports and the loading anvil made contact with the midpoint of the bone. A 2 N preload was applied to all femurs to prevent them from twisting once loading began. During loading the femurs were visually examined to ensure no rotation was occurring, resulting in torsion as well as bending. However, this does not completely rule out the occurrence of rotation.

The compression tests required the femurs to be cut with a diamond wafer saw. Due to the inherent wobble in the saw blade, it was difficult to achieve perfectly square ends on the cut section. If the section is then loaded in compression, it is not just compression that is occurring but rather bending occurs and the strains recorded are therefore inaccurate. To help correct the uneven bone ends, a wobble board-type device

(Figure 3.6) was constructed. Because only one strain gauge was attached to the bone, it was not possible to determine if the bone was bending or not. However, upon visual inspection of the bone positioning upon the loading platens it appeared as though the wobble board adjusted the bone sections correctly.

In addition, the mid shafts of the femurs were not perfectly linear; they possessed a slight curvature, making it difficult to load them in pure compression. Because of the uneven ends and the curved femurs, the strain recordings differed between trials. Each time the same bone was placed into the loading apparatus different strains would result. In fact, some of the trials resulted in tensile strains as opposed to compressive strains (Figure 4.9). It was difficult to align the bone between the loading platens and this was shown in the strain outputs. Due to these inconsistencies it was decided that the compressions tests were providing invalid results and they were discontinued.

Femur deformation was recorded using three different methods, each with their own limitations. As discussed in the Methods Section 3.4.3, the ADMET and extensometer both had internal compliance that could have affected the displacement output. The DVRT had limitations as well. The DVRT had poor resolution at small displacements and it had inherent noise, making it difficult to gather reliable data at small displacements (low loads).

It seemed reasonable to use the ADMET displacements at the low loads (60 N for females and 100 N for males) and not the DVRT data. This is such because at the failure loads, the ADMET and DVRT displacements were very similar whereas at the low loads where the DVRT performed poorly, the displacement measurements between the two

methods were very different. Theoretically the DVRT should have produced reliable data at the higher loads where noise is less influential. Since the displacements matched at these higher loads, the ADMET appeared to be consistent and accurate throughout the loading range.

The modulus values calculated using the displacement data from the ADMET were similar at low and maximum loads implying that the displacements were consistent over the range of applied loads. In contrast, the DVRT displacement data resulted in very different modulus values depending upon the applied load. At the lower loads, where the DVRT was noisier and less accurate, the modulus values were very high. At the maximum loads, the modulus values calculated using the displacement data from the DVRT were similar to the ADMET modulus values at the maximum as well as the lower loads. The modulus values should not vary with load and therefore, the deformations measured by the ADMET were used for analysis.

5.10 Combining Diet and Gender to Increase Evaluation Power

The male and female and NC and HF animals were combined so the sample size could be approximately doubled, increasing the power to detect dietary and gender differences, respectively. In regards to diet differences, a two-way analysis of variance revealed similar findings as found when examining genders individually, but there were some additional statistical differences revealed. As with the genders separated, the HF rats had greater body and fat masses compared to NC, and the HF rats had larger bone architecture shown by greater femoral length, cross-sectional area and second moment of area. The additional differences found with this analysis were that the maximum load and stiffness were significantly greater in the HF femurs. Stress and strain at 30 N in the HF femurs were also significantly reduced compared to NC. Although not significant, the maximum stress and modulus tended to be lower in the HF femurs.

The finding that the stress and strain were lower at a given load in the HF femurs suggests that bone may not be adapted to strain and that materially the properties may not be lacking in the HF femurs, as previously determined by looking within genders. The lower stresses and strains may have been a result of the increased HF femoral crosssectional area. Combining the genders would result in sample sizes large enough to detect these dietary differences. The HF femurs were structurally stronger as demonstrated by the greater maximum load and still only showed a trend towards lower material properties.

In terms of gender differences, a two-way analysis of variance revealed similar findings as were found when gender was compared within diet groups. Greater body and fat masses, bone length, bone cross-sectional area, and second moment of area were shown in males compared to females. In agreement with the previous analyses, males had less stress and strain at 30 N. A significantly larger modulus at 30 N, calculated using strain, was found in the males but a significantly lower modulus, calculated using deformation, was also found. Structurally, as shown previously, the males had greater proportional and maximum loads, greater proportional and maximum energies and greater stiffness. Interestingly using this analysis, the males also had greater maximum deformation.

Surprisingly, depending on how the modulus was calculated determined whether males or females exhibited greater material properties. Because both results were shown in this analysis it is difficult to come to a definitive conclusion on which gender possesses greater femoral material properties. In addition, the first analysis between genders within a diet, revealed that males had a greater modulus calculated using strain for the NC diet and there was no difference in modulus calculated using deformation. Deciding on the most correct modulus values is difficult and therefore, whether they differ between genders will depend on which values are used and how the analysis is carried out.

5.11 Conclusions

This thesis studied the effects of a high-fat diet on bone properties in rats when compared to rats fed a NC diet; specifically bone strain for the purpose of investigating bone adaptation in animals consuming a high-fat det. The high-fat diet did not affect bone strain despite significantly larger bone cross-sectional area properties compared to NC rats. No differences in material properties were detected using 3-point bend tests. Most structural properties also appeared to be unaffected by the high-fat diet. If the HF femurs are not lacking structurally, tend to be stronger than NC femurs and are significantly larger, then the bone material must be lacking in some manner, because the strains were similar. The equivalent strains supports the idea that bone self regulates to control the strain environment and thus maintain its strength despite changes in the body that may be compromising optimal bone health.

The lack of difference in femoral strain between the HF and NC rats is suggestive of adaptive modeling. Compared to NC the HF rats had greater body mass and in theory, greater muscle mass, which is associated with an increase in body mass. The greater body as well as muscle mass increased bone loading and, in turn, increased strain on the bone. In agreement with Frost's theory [22], in which a minimum effective strain exists and strain is the main determinant of bone geometry, the HF rat femurs were larger than the NC. The strains surpassed the minimum effective strain because of the increased loading and bone formation was activated causing an increase in bone size. Once the bone size increased, the strains from loading decreased, back to the minimum effective strain or threshold level. In addition, it has been found that structural properties of rat bones are dependent on geometry to a greater extent than material [146] and in the case of the HF rats, they appear to be only relying on geometry, as their elastic modulus did not differ from the NC. The HF rats may not have been able to increase their material stiffness due to poor nutrition. The HF rats may have had a lack of calcium due to the formation of intestinal soaps or a lack of vitamin D due to deposition in adipose tissue. Both of which would compromise bone material properties. Bone appears to be able to adjust itself in accordance with strain to remain structurally competent.

5.12 Future Work

This thesis is the basis for further study into the effects of a high-fat diet on bone adaptation in rats. The results of this thesis suggest that loading the femurs of the HF and NC rats to the same degree induces the same amount of strain. This helps to establish a loading protocol for the HF animals to determine the effects of a high-fat diet on bone adaptation due to mechanical loading. The next step in this research would be to strain gauge the ulna in NC and HF rats to determine if the bone strain at a given load, in this location, is also similar between groups just as it is in the femur. If so, then the same load can be applied to both groups during the bone formation loading protocol to induce the same strain and, in turn, to examine if the same bone response occurs.

Bone adaptation using the rat forelimb compression could be examined in rats of different developmental ages as well as in rats that experience different diet durations and compositions. Age is an important factor because poor diets are beginning at young ages [191], the time of critical bone development, and could impact the bone greatly as it develops. The length of diet may also play a critical role because the bone may be able to self adjust, as is thought to occur in this study, with an increase in bone size. The composition of the diet could also have an effect on bone adaptation and properties because the ratio of n-6 to n-3 fatty acids at the bone tissue level may alter the ability of bone to adapt to mechanical loading.

Prostaglandins are multifunctional regulators of bone metabolism that stimulate both bone resorption and formation. Fatty acids in the n-6 family are precursors to prostaglandin E1 and E2, both important modulators of bone adaptation. An imbalance of these fatty acids in bone tissue due to a diet high in saturated fats (typical of North American or Western diets) could impair the ability of bone to adapt to mechanical loading or damage. Thus, while examining bone adaptation, levels of prostaglandins should also be monitored. In addition to looking at bone adaptation on a whole bone

level, specifically looking at the effects of mechanical loading on osteoblasts in culture is also an area of further research.

The mechanical properties of bones from animals fed a high-fat diet could also be examined in various bones and at different ages. The literature is lacking a complete study. There are many pieces but as mentioned previously, it is difficult to compare them. In addition to mechanical testing, ideally bone mass and density would be determined as well as characterization of mineral organization and lamellar structure. This may help to determine just what the HF bones are missing. Hormone levels as well as bone formation and resorption markers would also be useful.

Lastly, the compression tests in the current study were not performed because of inconsistent findings, and establishing a consistent compression loading protocol would be helpful. The data gathered from this testing would be more physiologically relevant because of the orientation of the femurs and would have fewer limitations than 3-point bend tests. The new protocol would require a device that would align the femurs perpendicular to the loading platens to ensure the bones were only loaded in compression and the loading was consistent between trials and bones.

REFERENCES

- Burge, R., B. Dawson-Hughes, D.H. Solomon, J.B. Wong, A. King, and A. Tosteson, *Incidence and economic burden of osteoporosis-related fractures in the United States, 2005-2025.* J Bone Miner Res, 2007. 22(3): p. 465-75.
- 2. Wallace, W.A., *The increasing incidence of fractures of the proximal femur: an orthopaedic epidemic.* Lancet, 1983. **1**(8339): p. 1413-4.
- 3. Zernicke, R.F., G.J. Salem, R.J. Barnard, and E. Schramm, *Long-term, high-fat*sucrose diet alters rat femoral neck and vertebral morphology, bone mineral content, and mechanical properties. Bone, 1995. **16**(1): p. 25-31.
- 4. Ward, W.E., S. Kim, and W. Robert Bruce, *A western-style diet reduces bone* mass and biomechanical bone strength to a greater extent in male compared with female rats during development. The British Journal Of Nutrition, 2003. **90**(3): p. 589-95.
- 5. Reid, I.R., *Relationships between fat and bone*. Osteoporos Int, 2008. **19**(5): p. 595-606.
- 6. Keller, T.S. and D.M. Spengler, *Regulation of bone stress and strain in the immature and mature rat femur.* Journal Of Biomechanics, 1989. **22**(11-12): p. 1115-27.
- Carter, D.R., G.S. Beaupre, N.J. Giori, and J.A. Helms, *Mechanobiology of skeletal regeneration*. Clinical Orthopaedics And Related Research, 1998(355 Suppl): p. S41-55.
- 8. Jee, W.S.S., *Integrated Bone Tissue Physiology: Anatomy and Physiology*, in *Bone Mechanics Handbook*, S.C. Cowin, Editor 2001, CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton, Florida. p. 1-68.
- 9. Bruce, M.R., D.B. Burr, and N.A. Sharkey, *Skeletal Tissue Mechanics*, ed. R. Smith1998, New York: Springer-Verlag.
- 10. Baron, R., R. Tross, and A. Vignery, *Evidence of sequential remodeling in rat trabecular bone: morphology, dynamic histomorphometry, and changes during skeletal maturation.* The Anatomical Record, 1984. **208**(1): p. 137-45.
- M. Martiniakova, R.O., B. Grosskopf, Z. Mokosova, R. Toman, *Histological* Analysis of Compact Bone Tissue in Adult Laboratory Rats. Slovak J. Anim. Sci., 2009. 42(Supplement 1): p. 56-59.
- 12. Seeman, E., Modelling and Remodelling: The Cellular Machinery Responsible for the Gain and Loss Of Bone's Material and Structural Strength, in Principles of Bone Biology, J.P. Bilezikian, Editor 2008, Academic Press: San Diego, CA. p. 3-28.
- Nijweide, P.J., E.H. Burger, and J. Klein-Nulend, *The Osteocyte*, in *Principles of Bone Biology*, L.G.R.a.T.J.M. John P. Bilezikian, Editor 2002, Academic Press: San Diego, CA. p. 93-107.
- 14. *Chapter 6: Bones And Skeletal Tissues*. Available from: http://classes.midlandstech.com/carterp/courses/bio210/chap06/lecture1.html.

- 15. Burger, E.H., *Experiments on Cell Mechanosensitivity: Bone Cells as Mechanical Engineers*, in *Bone Mechanics Handbook*, S.C. Cowin, Editor 2001, CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton, Florida. p. 1-16.
- 16. Brand, R.A., C.M. Stanford, and D.P. Nicolella, *Primary adult human bone cells do not respond to tissue (continuum) level strains*. Journal Of Orthopaedic Science 2001. **6**(3): p. 295-301.
- 17. Hung, C.T., F.D. Allen, S.R. Pollack, and C.T. Brighton, *What is the role of the convective current density in the real-time calcium response of cultured bone cells to fluid flow?* Journal Of Biomechanics, 1996. **29**(11): p. 1403-9.
- Rubin, C.T. and L.E. Lanyon, *Dynamic strain similarity in vertebrates; an alternative to allometric limb bone scaling*. Journal Of Theoretical Biology, 1984. 107(2): p. 321-7.
- 19. Reilly, D.T. and A.H. Burstein, *The elastic and ultimate properties of compact bone tissue*. Journal Of Biomechanics, 1975. **8**(6): p. 393-405.
- 20. Gao, X.E., *Mechanical Properties of Cortical Bone and Cancellous Bone Tissue*, in *Bone Mechanics Handbook*, S.C. Cowin, Editor 2001, CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton, Florida. p. 1-23.
- 21. Lakes, R., *Viscoelastic Properties of Cortical Bone*, in *Bone Mechanis Handbook*, S.C. Cowin, Editor 2001, CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton, Florida. p. 1-15.
- 22. Frost, H.M., *Bone "mass" and the "mechanostat": a proposal*. The Anatomical Record, 1987. **219**(1): p. 1-9.
- Robling, A.G., A.B. Castillo, and C.H. Turner, *Biomechanical and molecular regulation of bone remodeling*. Annual Review Of Biomedical Engineering, 2006.
 8: p. 455-98.
- Ledikwe, J.H., H.M. Blanck, L. Kettel Khan, M.K. Serdula, J.D. Seymour, B.C. Tohill, and B.J. Rolls, *Dietary energy density is associated with energy intake and weight status in US adults*. The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 2006.
 83(6): p. 1362-8.
- 25. Langsetmo, L., S. Poliquin, D.A. Hanley, J.C. Prior, S. Barr, T. Anastassiades, T. Towheed, D. Goltzman, and N. Kreiger, *Dietary patterns in Canadian men and women ages 25 and older: relationship to demographics, body mass index, and bone mineral density.* BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 2010. **11**: p. 20.
- 26. Kant, A.K., Consumption of energy-dense, nutrient-poor foods by adult Americans: nutritional and health implications. The third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 2000. 72(4): p. 929-36.
- 27. Fung, T.T., E.B. Rimm, D. Spiegelman, N. Rifai, G.H. Tofler, W.C. Willett, and F.B. Hu, *Association between dietary patterns and plasma biomarkers of obesity and cardiovascular disease risk*. The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 2001. **73**(1): p. 61-7.
- 28. Ruxton, *Nutritional implications of obesity and dieting*. British Nutrition Foundation Nutrition Bulletin, 2011. **36**: p. 99-21.
- 29. Gibson, S., *Dietary sugars and micronutrient dilution in normal adults aged 65 years and over*. Public Health Nutrition, 2001. **4**(6): p. 1235-44.

- 30. Kimmons, J.E., H.M. Blanck, B.C. Tohill, J. Zhang, and L.K. Khan, *Associations* between body mass index and the prevalence of low micronutrient levels among US adults. Medscape General Medicine, 2006. **8**(4): p. 59.
- 31. Holick, M.F. and T.C. Chen, *Vitamin D deficiency: a worldwide problem with health consequences.* The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 2008. **87**(4): p. 1080S-6S.
- 32. Astrup, A. and S. Bugel, *Micronutrient deficiency in the aetiology of obesity*. International Journal Of Obesity, 2010. **34**(6): p. 947-8.
- 33. Garcia, O.P., K.Z. Long, and J.L. Rosado, *Impact of micronutrient deficiencies on obesity*. Nutrition Reviews, 2009. **67**(10): p. 559-72.
- 34. Aasheim, E.T., D. Hofso, J. Hjelmesaeth, K.I. Birkeland, and T. Bohmer, *Vitamin status in morbidly obese patients: a cross-sectional study*. The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 2008. **87**(2): p. 362-9.
- 35. Schweiger, C., R. Weiss, E. Berry, and A. Keidar, *Nutritional deficiencies in bariatric surgery candidates*. Obesity Surgery, 2010. **20**(2): p. 193-7.
- 36. Toh, S.Y., N. Zarshenas, and J. Jorgensen, *Prevalence of nutrient deficiencies in bariatric patients*. Nutrition, 2009. **25**(11-12): p. 1150-6.
- 37. Pereira, S., C. Saboya, G. Chaves, and A. Ramalho, *Class III obesity and its relationship with the nutritional status of vitamin A in pre- and postoperative gastric bypass.* Obesity Surgery, 2009. **19**(6): p. 738-44.
- 38. USDA, *Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals, 1994-1996*, E.R.S. US Department of Agriculture, Editor 1997: Washington, DC.
- 39. Guthrie, J.F., B.H. Lin, and E. Frazao, *Role of food prepared away from home in the American diet, 1977-78 versus 1994-96: changes and consequences.* Journal Of Nutrition Education And Behavior, 2002. **34**(3): p. 140-50.
- 40. Nielsen, S.J., A.M. Siega-Riz, and B.M. Popkin, *Trends in energy intake in U.S. between 1977 and 1996: similar shifts seen across age groups.* Obesity Research, 2002. **10**(5): p. 370-8.
- 41. Statistics Canada. *Canadian Community Health Survey, Cycle 2.2, Nutrition* (2004). 2006; Available from:
 - http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/surveill/nutrition/commun/index-eng.php
- 42. Holick, M.F., *High prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy and implications for health.* Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 2006. **81**(3): p. 353-73.
- 43. Harris, S.S. and B. Dawson-Hughes, *Reduced sun exposure does not explain the inverse association of 25-hydroxyvitamin D with percent body fat in older adults.* The Journal Of Clinical Endocrinology And Metabolism, 2007. **92**(8): p. 3155-7.
- 44. Rodriguez-Rodriguez, E., B. Navia, A.M. Lopez-Sobaler, and R.M. Ortega, *Vitamin D in overweight/obese women and its relationship with dietetic and anthropometric variables.* Obesity, 2009. **17**(4): p. 778-82.
- 45. Wortsman, J., L.Y. Matsuoka, T.C. Chen, Z. Lu, and M.F. Holick, *Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity*. The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 2000. **72**(3): p. 690-3.
- 46. Andersen, T., P. McNair, L. Hyldstrup, N. Fogh-Andersen, T.T. Nielsen, A. Astrup, and I. Transbol, *Secondary hyperparathyroidism of morbid obesity*

regresses during weight reduction. Metabolism: Clinical And Experimental, 1988. **37**(5): p. 425-8.

- 47. McGill, A.T., J.M. Stewart, F.E. Lithander, C.M. Strik, and S.D. Poppitt, *Relationships of low serum vitamin D3 with anthropometry and markers of the metabolic syndrome and diabetes in overweight and obesity.* Nutrition Journal, 2008. 7: p. 4.
- 48. Reis, J.P., D. von Muhlen, E.R. Miller, 3rd, E.D. Michos, and L.J. Appel, *Vitamin D status and cardiometabolic risk factors in the United States adolescent population*. Pediatrics, 2009. **124**(3): p. e371-9.
- 49. Beydoun, M.A., A. Boueiz, M.R. Shroff, H.A. Beydoun, Y. Wang, and A.B. Zonderman, *Associations among 25-hydroxyvitamin D, diet quality, and metabolic disturbance differ by adiposity in adults in the United States.* The Journal Of Clinical Endocrinology And Metabolism, 2010. **95**(8): p. 3814-27.
- 50. Hultin, H., K. Edfeldt, M. Sundbom, and P. Hellman, *Left-shifted relation between calcium and parathyroid hormone in obesity*. The Journal Of Clinical Endocrinology And Metabolism, 2010. **95**(8): p. 3973-81.
- 51. Ybarra, J., J. Sanchez-Hernandez, and A. Perez, *Hypovitaminosis D and morbid obesity*. The Nursing Clinics Of North America, 2007. **42**(1): p. 19-27, v.
- 52. Carlin, A.M., D.S. Rao, A.M. Meslemani, J.A. Genaw, N.J. Parikh, S. Levy, A. Bhan, and G.B. Talpos, *Prevalence of vitamin D depletion among morbidly obese patients seeking gastric bypass surgery*. Surgery For Obesity And Related Diseases, 2006. 2(2): p. 98-103; discussion 104.
- 53. Buffington, C., B. Walker, G.S. Cowan, Jr., and D. Scruggs, *Vitamin D Deficiency in the Morbidly Obese*. Obesity Surgery, 1993. **3**(4): p. 421-424.
- 54. Cao, J.J., B.R. Gregoire, and H. Gao, *High-fat diet decreases cancellous bone mass but has no effect on cortical bone mass in the tibia in mice*. Bone, 2009. 44(6): p. 1097-104.
- 55. Cao, J.J., L. Sun, and H. Gao, *Diet-induced obesity alters bone remodeling leading to decreased femoral trabecular bone mass in mice*. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2010. **1192**(1): p. 292-7.
- 56. Halade, G.V., M.M. Rahman, P.J. Williams, and G. Fernandes, *High fat dietinduced animal model of age-associated obesity and osteoporosis*. J Nutr Biochem, 2010.
- 57. Lorincz, C., R.A. Reimer, S.K. Boyd, and R.F. Zernicke, *High-fat, sucrose diet impairs geometrical and mechanical properties of cortical bone in mice*. Br J Nutr, 2010. **103**(9): p. 1302-8.
- Li, K.C., R.F. Zernicke, R.J. Barnard, and A.F. Li, *Effects of a high fat-sucrose diet on cortical bone morphology and biomechanics*. Calcif Tissue Int, 1990. 47(5): p. 308-13.
- 59. Wohl, G.R., L. Loehrke, B.A. Watkins, and R.F. Zernicke, *Effects of high-fat diet on mature bone mineral content, structure, and mechanical properties.* Calcif Tissue Int, 1998. **63**(1): p. 74-9.

- 60. Woo, D.G., B.Y. Lee, D. Lim, and H.S. Kim, *Relationship between nutrition factors and osteopenia: Effects of experimental diets on immature bone quality.* J Biomech, 2009. **42**(8): p. 1102-7.
- 61. Ionova-Martin, S.S., S.H. Do, H.D. Barth, M. Szadkowska, A.E. Porter, J.W. Ager, 3rd, J.W. Ager, Jr., T. Alliston, C. Vaisse, and R.O. Ritchie, *Reduced size-independent mechanical properties of cortical bone in high-fat diet-induced obesity*. Bone, 2010. **46**(1): p. 217-25.
- 62. Rosen, C.J. and M.L. Bouxsein, *Mechanisms of disease: is osteoporosis the obesity of bone?* Nature Clinical Practice. Rheumatology, 2006. **2**(1): p. 35-43.
- 63. Ma, H., S. Torvinen, M. Silvennoinen, R. Rinnankoski-Tuikka, H. Kainulainen, J. Morko, Z. Peng, U.M. Kujala, P. Rahkila, and H. Suominen, *Effects of diet-induced obesity and voluntary wheel running on bone properties in young male C57BL/6J mice*. Calcif Tissue Int, 2010. **86**(5): p. 411-9.
- 64. Lac, G., H. Cavalie, E. Ebal, and O. Michaux, *Effects of a high fat diet on bone of growing rats. Correlations between visceral fat, adiponectin and bone mass density.* Lipids Health Dis, 2008. 7: p. 16.
- 65. Ealey, K.N., J. Kaludjerovic, M.C. Archer, and W.E. Ward, *Adiponectin is a negative regulator of bone mineral and bone strength in growing mice*. Exp Biol Med 2008. **233**(12): p. 1546-53.
- 66. Xiao, Y., J. Cui, Y.X. Li, Y.H. Shi, B. Wang, G.W. Le, and Z.P. Wang, Dyslipidemic high-fat diet affects adversely bone metabolism in mice associated with impaired antioxidant capacity. Nutrition, 2009.
- 67. Robling, A.G., *Is bone's response to mechanical signals dominated by muscle forces?* Medicine And Science In Sports And Exercise, 2009. **41**(11): p. 2044-9.
- Ferretti, J.L., G.R. Cointry, R.F. Capozza, R. Capiglioni, and M.A. Chiappe, *Analysis of biomechanical effects on bone and on the muscle-bone interactions in small animal models*. Journal Of Musculoskeletal & Neuronal Interactions, 2001. 1(3): p. 263-74.
- 69. Dytfeld, J., M. Ignaszak-Szczepaniak, E. Gowin, M. Michalak, and W. Horst-Sikorska, *Influence of lean and fat mass on bone mineral density (BMD) in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis*. Archives Of Gerontology And Geriatrics, 2011.
- 70. Kannus, P., H. Sievanen, and I. Vuori, *Physical loading, exercise, and bone*. Bone, 1996. **18**(1 Suppl): p. 1S-3S.
- 71. Jee, W.S.S., *The Interactions Of Muscles And Skeletal Tissue*, in *Musculoskeletal Interactions* L. GP, Editor 1999, Hylonome Editions: Athens. p. 35-46.
- 72. Burr, D.B., *Muscle strength, bone mass, and age-related bone loss*. Journal Of Bone And Mineral Research, 1997. **12**(10): p. 1547-51.
- 73. Andersen, J.L., P. Schjerling, and B. Saltin, *Muscle, genes and athletic performance*. Scientific American, 2000. **283**(3): p. 48-55.
- 74. Cowin, S.C. and M.L. Moss, *Mechanosensory Mechanisms in Bone*, in *Bone Mechanics Handbook*, S.C. Cowin, Editor 2001, CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton, Florida. p. 1-17.

- 75. Guney, E., G. Kisakol, G. Ozgen, C. Yilmaz, R. Yilmaz, and T. Kabalak, *Effect of weight loss on bone metabolism: comparison of vertical banded gastroplasty and medical intervention*. Obesity Surgery, 2003. **13**(3): p. 383-8.
- 76. Radak, T.L., *Caloric restriction and calcium's effect on bone metabolism and body composition in overweight and obese premenopausal women.* Nutrition Reviews, 2004. **62**(12): p. 468-81.
- Gnudi, S., E. Sitta, and N. Fiumi, *Relationship between body composition and bone mineral density in women with and without osteoporosis: relative contribution of lean and fat mass.* Journal Of Bone And Mineral Metabolism, 2007. 25(5): p. 326-32.
- 78. Forbes, G.B., *Longitudinal changes in adult fat-free mass: influence of body weight.* The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 1999. **70**(6): p. 1025-31.
- 79. Hsieh, Y.F., A.G. Robling, W.T. Ambrosius, D.B. Burr, and C.H. Turner, *Mechanical loading of diaphyseal bone in vivo: the strain threshold for an osteogenic response varies with location.* Journal Of Bone And Mineral Research, 2001. **16**(12): p. 2291-7.
- Petit, M.A., T.J. Beck, H.M. Lin, C. Bentley, R.S. Legro, and T. Lloyd, *Femoral bone structural geometry adapts to mechanical loading and is influenced by sex steroids: the Penn State Young Women's Health Study*. Bone, 2004. 35(3): p. 750-9.
- 81. Cui, L.H., M.H. Shin, S.S. Kweon, K.S. Park, Y.H. Lee, E.K. Chung, H.S. Nam, and J.S. Choi, *Relative contribution of body composition to bone mineral density at different sites in men and women of South Korea.* Journal Of Bone And Mineral Metabolism, 2007. **25**(3): p. 165-71.
- 82. Ionova-Martin, S.S., J.M. Wade, S. Tang, M. Shahnazari, J.W. Ager, 3rd, N.E. Lane, W. Yao, T. Alliston, C. Vaisse, and R.O. Ritchie, *Changes in cortical bone response to high-fat diet from adolescence to adulthood in mice*. Osteoporosis International 2011. **22**(8): p. 2283-93.
- 83. Brahmabhatt, V., J. Rho, L. Bernardis, R. Gillespie, and I. Ziv, *The effects of dietary-induced obesity on the biomechanical properties of femora in male rats.* Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord, 1998. **22**(8): p. 813-8.
- 84. Salem, G.J., R.F. Zernicke, and R.J. Barnard, *Diet-related changes in mechanical properties of rat vertebrae*. Am J Physiol, 1992. **262**(2 Pt 2): p. R318-21.
- 85. Patsch, J.M., F.W. Kiefer, P. Varga, P. Pail, M. Rauner, D. Stupphann, H. Resch, D. Moser, P.K. Zysset, T.M. Stulnig, and P. Pietschmann, *Increased bone resorption and impaired bone microarchitecture in short-term and extended high-fat diet-induced obesity*. Metabolism, 2010.
- 86. Daly, R.M., L. Saxon, C.H. Turner, A.G. Robling, and S.L. Bass, *The relationship* between muscle size and bone geometry during growth and in response to exercise. Bone, 2004. **34**(2): p. 281-7.
- Lu, T.W., S.J. Taylor, J.J. O'Connor, and P.S. Walker, *Influence of muscle activity* on the forces in the femur: an in vivo study. Journal Of Biomechanics, 1997.
 30(11-12): p. 1101-6.

- 88. Umemura, Y., T. Ishiko, H. Tsujimoto, H. Miura, N. Mokushi, and H. Suzuki, *Effects of jump training on bone hypertrophy in young and old rats*. International Journal Of Sports Medicine, 1995. **16**(6): p. 364-7.
- 89. Umemura, Y., N. Sogo, and A. Honda, *Effects of intervals between jumps or bouts* on osteogenic response to loading. Journal Of Applied Physiology, 2002. **93**(4): p. 1345-8.
- 90. Zhao, L.J., Y.J. Liu, P.Y. Liu, J. Hamilton, R.R. Recker, and H.W. Deng, *Relationship of obesity with osteoporosis.* The Journal Of Clinical Endocrinology And Metabolism, 2007. **92**(5): p. 1640-6.
- 91. Kim, H.Y., J.W. Choe, H.K. Kim, S.J. Bae, B.J. Kim, S.H. Lee, J.M. Koh, K.O. Han, H.M. Park, and G.S. Kim, *Negative association between metabolic syndrome and bone mineral density in Koreans, especially in men.* Calcified Tissue International, 2010. **86**(5): p. 350-8.
- 92. Hsu, Y.H., S.A. Venners, H.A. Terwedow, Y. Feng, T. Niu, Z. Li, N. Laird, J.D. Brain, S.R. Cummings, M.L. Bouxsein, C.J. Rosen, and X. Xu, *Relation of body composition, fat mass, and serum lipids to osteoporotic fractures and bone mineral density in Chinese men and women.* The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 2006. 83(1): p. 146-54.
- 93. Haffner, S.M. and R.L. Bauer, *The association of obesity and glucose and insulin concentrations with bone density in premenopausal and postmenopausal women.* Metabolism: Clinical And Experimental, 1993. **42**(6): p. 735-8.
- 94. Mautalen, C., A. Bagur, E. Vega, and D. Gonzalez, *Body composition in normal and osteoporotic women*. Medicina, 1996. **56**(1): p. 29-34.
- 95. Reid, I.R., L.D. Plank, and M.C. Evans, *Fat mass is an important determinant of whole body bone density in premenopausal women but not in men.* The Journal Of Clinical Endocrinology And Metabolism, 1992. **75**(3): p. 779-82.
- 96. Genaro, P.S., G.A. Pereira, M.M. Pinheiro, V.L. Szejnfeld, and L.A. Martini, *Influence of body composition on bone mass in postmenopausal osteoporotic women.* Archives Of Gerontology And Geriatrics, 2010. **51**(3): p. 295-8.
- 97. Harris, S.S. and B. Dawson-Hughes, *Weight, body composition, and bone density in postmenopausal women*. Calcified Tissue International, 1996. **59**(6): p. 428-32.
- 98. Sowers, M.F., A. Kshirsagar, M.M. Crutchfield, and S. Updike, *Joint influence of fat and lean body composition compartments on femoral bone mineral density in premenopausal women.* American Journal Of Epidemiology, 1992. **136**(3): p. 257-65.
- 99. Waters, D.L., L. Hale, A.M. Grant, P. Herbison, and A. Goulding, *Osteoporosis* and gait and balance disturbances in older sarcopenic obese New Zealanders. Osteoporosis International 2010. **21**(2): p. 351-7.
- 100. Baumgartner, R.N., *Body composition in healthy aging*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 2000. **904**: p. 437-48.
- 101. Lima, R.M., L.M. Bezerra, H.T. Rabelo, M.A. Silva, A.J. Silva, M. Bottaro, and R.J. de Oliveira, *Fat-free mass, strength, and sarcopenia are related to bone mineral density in older women.* Journal Of Clinical Densitometry, 2009. **12**(1): p. 35-41.

- 102. Aubertin-Leheudre, M., C. Lord, M. Labonte, A. Khalil, and I.J. Dionne, *Relationship between sarcopenia and fracture risks in obese postmenopausal women.* Journal Of Women & Aging, 2008. **20**(3-4): p. 297-308.
- 103. Siiteri, P.K., *Adipose tissue as a source of hormones*. The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 1987. **45**(1 Suppl): p. 277-82.
- 104. Hunt, J.R., C.D. Hunt, C.A. Zito, J.P. Idso, and L.K. Johnson, *Calcium* requirements of growing rats based on bone mass, structure, or biomechanical strength are similar. The Journal of Nutrition, 2008. **138**(8): p. 1462-8.
- O'Loan, J., D.W. Eyles, J. Kesby, P. Ko, J.J. McGrath, and T.H. Burne, *Vitamin D deficiency during various stages of pregnancy in the rat; its impact on development and behaviour in adult offspring.* Psychoneuroendocrinology, 2007. 32(3): p. 227-34.
- 106. Bhaskar, A.R., Anhydrous milk fat fractionation with continuous countercurrent supercritical carbon dioxide. 1993.
- 107. Torrance, A.G., J.R. Mosley, R.F. Suswillo, and L.E. Lanyon, *Noninvasive loading of the rat ulna in vivo induces a strain-related modeling response uncomplicated by trauma or periostal pressure*. Calcified Tissue International, 1994. 54(3): p. 241-7.
- Uthgenannt, B.A. and M.J. Silva, Use of the rat forelimb compression model to create discrete levels of bone damage in vivo. Journal Of Biomechanics, 2007.
 40(2): p. 317-24.
- 109. Karakolis, T., *Mechanical Induction of Bone Formation: Comparison Between Rat and Mouse Forelimb Models*, in *Mechanical Engineering*2009, McMaster: Hamilton. p. 95.
- 110. van Gaalen, S.M., M.C. Kruyt, R.E. Geuze, J.D. de Bruijn, J. Alblas, and W.J. Dhert, Use of fluorochrome labels in in vivo bone tissue engineering research. Tissue Engineering. Part B, Reviews, 2010. 16(2): p. 209-17.
- 111. Vashishth, D., Small animal bone biomechanics. Bone, 2008. 43(5): p. 794-7.
- 112. Turner, C.H. and D.B. Burr, *Experimental Techniques for Bone Mechanics*, in *Bone Mechanics Handbook*, S.C. Cowin, Editor 2001, CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton, Florida. p. 1-35.
- 113. van Lenthe, G.H., R. Voide, S.K. Boyd, and R. Muller, *Tissue modulus calculated* from beam theory is biased by bone size and geometry: implications for the use of three-point bending tests to determine bone tissue modulus. Bone, 2008. **43**(4): p. 717-23.
- Battraw, G.A., V. Miera, P.L. Anderson, and J.A. Szivek, *Bilateral symmetry of biomechanical properties in rat femora*. Journal Of Biomedical Materials Research, 1996. **32**(2): p. 285-8.
- 115. Atteh, J.O. and S. Leeson, *Effects of dietary saturated or unsaturated fatty acids and calcium levels on performance and mineral metabolism of broiler chicks.* Poultry Science, 1984. **63**(11): p. 2252-60.
- 116. Tadayyon, B. and L. Lutwak, *Interrelationship of triglycerides with calcium, magnesium and phosphorus in the rat.* The Journal Of Nutrition, 1969. **97**(2): p. 246-54.

- Bengner, U., O. Johnell, and I. Redlund-Johnell, *Changes in incidence and prevalence of vertebral fractures during 30 years*. Calcified Tissue International, 1988. 42(5): p. 293-6.
- 118. Newmark, H.L., M.J. Wargovich, and W.R. Bruce, *Colon cancer and dietary fat, phosphate, and calcium: a hypothesis.* Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 1984. **72**(6): p. 1323-5.
- 119. Barnard, R.J., D.J. Faria, J.E. Menges, and D.A. Martin, *Effects of a high-fat, sucrose diet on serum insulin and related atherosclerotic risk factors in rats.* Atherosclerosis, 1993. **100**(2): p. 229-36.
- 120. Grimditch, G.K., R.J. Barnard, E. Sternlicht, R.H. Whitson, and S.A. Kaplan, *Effect of diet on insulin binding and glucose transport in rat sarcolemmal vesicles*. The American Journal Of Physiology, 1987. **252**(3 Pt 1): p. E420-5.
- 121. Holl, M.G. and L.H. Allen, *Sucrose ingestion, insulin response and mineral metabolism in humans*. The Journal of Nutrition, 1987. **117**(7): p. 1229-33.
- 122. DeFronzo, R.A., C.R. Cooke, R. Andres, G.R. Faloona, and P.J. Davis, *The effect* of insulin on renal handling of sodium, potassium, calcium, and phosphate in man. The Journal Of Clinical Investigation, 1975. **55**(4): p. 845-55.
- Kream, B.E., M.D. Smith, E. Canalis, and L.G. Raisz, *Characterization of the effect of insulin on collagen synthesis in fetal rat bone*. Endocrinology, 1985. 116(1): p. 296-302.
- 124. Harma, M., M. Parviainen, T. Koskinen, V. Hoikka, and E. Alhava, *Bone density, histomorphometry and biochemistry in patients with fractures of the hip or spine.* Annals Of Clinical Research, 1987. **19**(6): p. 378-82.
- 125. Lemann, J., Jr., E.J. Lennon, W.R. Piering, E.L. Prien, Jr., and E.S. Ricanati, Evidence that glucose ingestion inhibits net renal tubular reabsorption of calcium and magnesium in man. The Journal Of Laboratory And Clinical Medicine, 1970. 75(4): p. 578-85.
- Cohen, L. and R. Kitzes, *Infrared spectroscopy and magnesium content of bone mineral in osteoporotic women*. Israel Journal Of Medical Sciences, 1981. 17(12): p. 1123-5.
- 127. Jones, J.E., R. Schwartz, and L. Krook, *Calcium homeostasis and bone pathology in magnesium deficient rats.* Calcified Tissue International, 1980. **31**(3): p. 231-8.
- Morin, C.L., R.H. Eckel, T. Marcel, and M.J. Pagliassotti, *High fat diets elevate adipose tissue-derived tumor necrosis factor-alpha activity*. Endocrinology, 1997. 138(11): p. 4665-71.
- 129. Hotamisligil, G.S., P. Arner, J.F. Caro, R.L. Atkinson, and B.M. Spiegelman, Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. The Journal Of Clinical Investigation, 1995. 95(5): p. 2409-15.
- 130. Xiao, Y., J. Cui, Y.X. Li, Y.H. Shi, and G.W. Le, *Expression of genes associated* with bone resorption is increased and bone formation is decreased in mice fed a high-fat diet. Lipids, 2010. **45**(4): p. 345-55.
- 131. Wetzsteon, R.J., M.A. Petit, H.M. Macdonald, J.M. Hughes, T.J. Beck, and H.A. McKay, *Bone structure and volumetric BMD in overweight children: a*

longitudinal study. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, 2008. **23**(12): p. 1946-53.

- 132. Janicka, A., T.A. Wren, M.M. Sanchez, F. Dorey, P.S. Kim, S.D. Mittelman, and V. Gilsanz, *Fat mass is not beneficial to bone in adolescents and young adults*. The Journal Of Clinical Endocrinology And Metabolism, 2007. 92(1): p. 143-7.
- 133. Pollock, N.K., E.M. Laing, C.A. Baile, M.W. Hamrick, D.B. Hall, and R.D. Lewis, *Is adiposity advantageous for bone strength? A peripheral quantitative computed tomography study in late adolescent females.* The American Journal Of Clinical Nutrition, 2007. 86(5): p. 1530-8.
- 134. Donahue, S.W. and S.A. Galley, *Microdamage in bone: implications for fracture, repair, remodeling, and adaptation.* Critical Reviews In Biomedical Engineering, 2006. **34**(3): p. 215-71.
- 135. Frost, H.M., Bone's mechanostat: a 2003 update. The Anatomical Record. Part A, Discoveries In Molecular, Cellular, And Evolutionary Biology, 2003. 275(2): p. 1081-101.
- 136. Frost, H.M., *Obesity, and bone strength and "mass": a tutorial based on insights from a new paradigm.* Bone, 1997. **21**(3): p. 211-4.
- Biewener, A.A., *Biomechanics of mammalian terrestrial locomotion*. Science, 1990. 250(4984): p. 1097-103.
- 138. Selker, F. and D.R. Carter, *Scaling of long bone fracture strength with animal mass.* Journal Of Biomechanics, 1989. **22**(11-12): p. 1175-83.
- 139. Hou, J., Zernicke RF & Bernard RJ, *High-fat sucrose diet effects on femoral neck geometry and biomechanics*. Clinical Biomechanics, 1990. **5**: p. 162-168.
- 140. Torcasio, A., *The systematic errors in tissue modulus of murine bones whe estimated from three-point bending.* Journal Of Biomechanics, 2008. **41**(S1).
- 141. Ferretti, J.L., R.F. Capozza, N. Mondelo, E. Montuori, and J.R. Zanchetta, Determination of femur structural properties by geometric and material variables as a function of body weight in rats. Evidence of a sexual dimorphism. Bone, 1993. 14(3): p. 265-70.
- 142. Nakamura, T., T. Kurokawa, and H. Orimo, *Increased mechanical strength of the vitamin D-replete rat femur by the treatment with a large dose of 24R,25(OH)2D3*. Bone, 1989. **10**(2): p. 117-23.
- 143. Fox, J., M.A. Miller, M.K. Newman, A.F. Metcalfe, C.H. Turner, R.R. Recker, and S.Y. Smith, *Daily treatment of aged ovariectomized rats with human* parathyroid hormone (1-84) for 12 months reverses bone loss and enhances trabecular and cortical bone strength. Calcified Tissue International, 2006. 79(4): p. 262-72.
- 144. Feldman, S., G.R. Cointry, M.E. Leite Duarte, L. Sarrio, J.L. Ferretti, and R.F. Capozza, *Effects of hypophysectomy and recombinant human growth hormone on material and geometric properties and the pre- and post-yield behavior of femurs in young rats.* Bone, 2004. **34**(1): p. 203-15.
- 145. Hogan, H.A., J.A. Groves, and H.W. Sampson, *Long-term alcohol consumption in the rat affects femur cross-sectional geometry and bone tissue material properties.* Alcoholism, Clinical And Experimental Research, 1999. **23**(11): p. 1825-33.

- 146. Keller, T.S., D.M. Spengler, and D.R. Carter, *Geometric, elastic, and structural properties of maturing rat femora.* Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society, 1986. **4**(1): p. 57-67.
- 147. Currey, J.D. and S.M. Hughes, *The effects of pregnancy and lactation on some mechanical properties of the femora of the rat.* Calcified Tissue Research, 1973. 11(2): p. 112-23.
- 148. Cory, E., A. Nazarian, V. Entezari, V. Vartanians, R. Muller, and B.D. Snyder, Compressive axial mechanical properties of rat bone as functions of bone volume fraction, apparent density and micro-ct based mineral density. Journal Of Biomechanics, 2010. 43(5): p. 953-60.
- 149. Jamsa, T., J.Y. Rho, Z. Fan, C.A. MacKay, S.C. Marks, Jr., and J. Tuukkanen, *Mechanical properties in long bones of rat osteopetrotic mutations*. Journal Of Biomechanics, 2002. 35(2): p. 161-5.
- 150. Kohles, S.S., G.D. Cartee, and R. Vanderby, Jr., *Cortical elasticity in aging rats with and without growth hormone treatments*. Journal Of Medical Engineering & Technology, 1996. **20**(4-5): p. 157-63.
- 151. Vanleene, M., C. Rey, and M.C. Ho Ba Tho, *Relationships between density and Young's modulus with microporosity and physico-chemical properties of Wistar rat cortical bone from growth to senescence*. Medical Engineering & Physics, 2008. **30**(8): p. 1049-56.
- 152. Indrekvam, K., I. Vikoyr, R.T. Lie, L.B. Engesaeter, and N. Langeland, *Agerelated differences in chemical composition of rat femur as determinants for strain*. Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica, 1991. **62**(5): p. 455-8.
- 153. Indrekvam, K., O.S. Husby, N.R. Gjerdet, L.B. Engester, and N. Langeland, *Agedependent mechanical properties of rat femur. Measured in vivo and in vitro*. Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica, 1991. **62**(3): p. 248-52.
- 154. Biewener, A.A., S.M. Swartz, and J.E. Bertram, *Bone modeling during growth: dynamic strain equilibrium in the chick tibiotarsus*. Calcified Tissue International, 1986. **39**(6): p. 390-5.
- 155. Keller, T.S. and D.M. Spengler, *In vivo strain gage implantation in rats*. Journal Of Biomechanics, 1982. **15**(12): p. 911-7.
- 156. Wehner, T., U. Wolfram, T. Henzler, F. Niemeyer, L. Claes, and U. Simon, *Internal forces and moments in the femur of the rat during gait.* Journal Of Biomechanics, 2010. **43**(13): p. 2473-9.
- 157. Fritton, S.P. and C.T. Rubin, *In Vivo Measurement of Bone Deformations Using Strain Gauges*, in *Bone Mechanics Handbook*, S.C. Cowin, Editor 2001, CRC Press LLC: Boca Raton. p. 1-41.
- 158. Srinivasan, S., S.C. Agans, K.A. King, N.Y. Moy, S.L. Poliachik, and T.S. Gross, *Enabling bone formation in the aged skeleton via rest-inserted mechanical loading*. Bone, 2003. **33**(6): p. 946-55.
- 159. Turner, C.H., Y. Takano, and I. Owan, *Aging changes mechanical loading thresholds for bone formation in rats.* Journal Of Bone And Mineral Research, 1995. **10**(10): p. 1544-9.

- 160. Rubin, C.T., S.D. Bain, and K.J. McLeod, *Suppression of the osteogenic response in the aging skeleton*. Calcified Tissue International, 1992. **50**(4): p. 306-13.
- 161. Liskova, M. and J. Hert, *Reaction of bone to mechanical stimuli. 2. Periosteal and endosteal reaction of tibial diaphysis in rabbit to intermittent loading.* Folia Morphologica, 1971. **19**(3): p. 301-17.
- 162. Lanyon, L.E. and C.T. Rubin, *Static vs dynamic loads as an influence on bone remodelling*. Journal Of Biomechanics, 1984. **17**(12): p. 897-905.
- 163. Warden, S.J. and C.H. Turner, *Mechanotransduction in the cortical bone is most efficient at loading frequencies of 5-10 Hz*. Bone, 2004. **34**(2): p. 261-70.
- 164. Muir, G.D. and I.Q. Whishaw, *Ground reaction forces in locomoting hemiparkinsonian rats: a definitive test for impairments and compensations.* Experimental Brain Research, 1999. **126**(3): p. 307-14.
- 165. Kotha, S.P., Y.F. Hsieh, R.M. Strigel, R. Muller, and M.J. Silva, *Experimental and finite element analysis of the rat ulnar loading model-correlations between strain and bone formation following fatigue loading*. Journal Of Biomechanics, 2004. **37**(4): p. 541-8.
- 166. Srinivasan, S., D.A. Weimer, S.C. Agans, S.D. Bain, and T.S. Gross, *Low-magnitude mechanical loading becomes osteogenic when rest is inserted between each load cycle*. Journal Of Bone And Mineral Research, 2002. **17**(9): p. 1613-20.
- Schriefer, J.L., S.J. Warden, L.K. Saxon, A.G. Robling, and C.H. Turner, *Cellular accommodation and the response of bone to mechanical loading*. Journal Of Biomechanics, 2005. 38(9): p. 1838-45.
- 168. Saxon, L.K., A.G. Robling, I. Alam, and C.H. Turner, *Mechanosensitivity of the rat skeleton decreases after a long period of loading, but is improved with time off.* Bone, 2005. **36**(3): p. 454-64.
- 169. Robling, A.G., F.M. Hinant, D.B. Burr, and C.H. Turner, *Improved bone structure and strength after long-term mechanical loading is greatest if loading is separated into short bouts.* Journal Of Bone And Mineral Research 2002. **17**(8): p. 1545-54.
- Robling, A.G., D.B. Burr, and C.H. Turner, *Recovery periods restore* mechanosensitivity to dynamically loaded bone. The Journal Of Experimental Biology, 2001. 204(Pt 19): p. 3389-99.
- 171. Mosley, J.R., B.M. March, J. Lynch, and L.E. Lanyon, *Strain magnitude related changes in whole bone architecture in growing rats.* Bone, 1997. **20**(3): p. 191-8.
- 172. Eastwood, K., Personal Communication, 2011, McMaster University.
- 173. Levin, B.E. and A.A. Dunn-Meynell, *Reduced central leptin sensitivity in rats with diet-induced obesity*. American Journal Of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative And Comparative Physiology, 2002. **283**(4): p. R941-8.
- 174. Levin, B.E., A.A. Dunn-Meynell, M.R. Ricci, and D.E. Cummings, *Abnormalities of leptin and ghrelin regulation in obesity-prone juvenile rats*. American Journal Of Physiology. Endocrinology And Metabolism, 2003. **285**(5): p. E949-57.
- 175. Speakman, J., C. Hambly, S. Mitchell, and E. Krol, *Animal models of obesity*. Obesity Reviews 2007. **8 Suppl 1**: p. 55-61.
- 176. Buettner, R., J. Scholmerich, and L.C. Bollheimer, *High-fat diets: modeling the metabolic disorders of human obesity in rodents*. Obesity, 2007. **15**(4): p. 798-808.
- Levin, B.E. and A.A. Dunn-Meynell, *Defense of body weight depends on dietary composition and palatability in rats with diet-induced obesity*. American Journal Of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative And Comparative Physiology, 2002.
 282(1): p. R46-54.
- 178. Levin, B.E., A.A. Dunn-Meynell, J.E. McMinn, M. Alperovich, A. Cunningham-Bussel, and S.C. Chua, Jr., *A new obesity-prone, glucose-intolerant rat strain* (*F.DIO*). American Journal Of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative And Comparative Physiology, 2003. 285(5): p. R1184-91.
- 179. Chang, S., B. Graham, F. Yakubu, D. Lin, J.C. Peters, and J.O. Hill, *Metabolic differences between obesity-prone and obesity-resistant rats*. The American Journal Of Physiology, 1990. **259**(6 Pt 2): p. R1103-10.
- 180. Dourmashkin, J.T., G.Q. Chang, E.C. Gayles, J.O. Hill, S.K. Fried, C. Julien, and S.F. Leibowitz, *Different forms of obesity as a function of diet composition*. International Journal Of Obesity, 2005. 29(11): p. 1368-78.
- 181. Farley, C., J.A. Cook, B.D. Spar, T.M. Austin, and T.J. Kowalski, *Meal pattern analysis of diet-induced obesity in susceptible and resistant rats.* Obesity Research, 2003. **11**(7): p. 845-51.
- 182. Commerford, S.R., M.J. Pagliassotti, C.L. Melby, Y. Wei, E.C. Gayles, and J.O. Hill, *Fat oxidation, lipolysis, and free fatty acid cycling in obesity-prone and obesity-resistant rats.* American Journal Of Physiology. Endocrinology And Metabolism, 2000. 279(4): p. E875-85.
- 183. Commerford, S.R., M.J. Pagliassotti, C.L. Melby, Y. Wei, and J.O. Hill, *Inherent capacity for lipogenesis or dietary fat retention is not increased in obesity-prone rats*. American Journal Of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative And Comparative Physiology, 2001. 280(6): p. R1680-7.
- 184. Abdoulaye, D., S. Wetzler, M. Goubern, J.M. Helies, G. Fromentin, D. Tome, and C. Larue-Achagiotis, *Comparison of energy balance in two inbred strains of rats: Fischer F344 prone to obesity and Lou rats resistant to obesity*. Physiology & Behavior, 2006. 87(2): p. 245-50.
- 185. Levin, B.E. and A.A. Dunn-Meynell, *Defense of body weight against chronic caloric restriction in obesity-prone and -resistant rats.* American Journal Of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative And Comparative Physiology, 2000. 278(1): p. R231-7.
- 186. Jackman, M.R., R.E. Kramer, P.S. MacLean, and D.H. Bessesen, *Trafficking of dietary fat in obesity-prone and obesity-resistant rats*. American Journal Of Physiology. Endocrinology And Metabolism, 2006. **291**(5): p. E1083-91.
- 187. Pagliassotti, M.J., S.M. Knobel, K.A. Shahrokhi, A.M. Manzo, and J.O. Hill, *Time course of adaptation to a high-fat diet in obesity-resistant and obesity-prone rats.* The American Journal Of Physiology, 1994. 267(3 Pt 2): p. R659-64.

- 188. Levin, B.E., J. Triscari, and A.C. Sullivan, *Relationship between sympathetic activity and diet-induced obesity in two rat strains*. The American Journal Of Physiology, 1983. **245**(3): p. R364-71.
- 189. Levin, B.E., J. Triscari, and A.C. Sullivan, *Metabolic features of diet-induced obesity without hyperphagia in young rats.* The American Journal Of Physiology, 1986. **251**(3 Pt 2): p. R433-40.
- 190. Herrera, B.M., S. Keildson, and C.M. Lindgren, *Genetics And Epigenetics Of Obesity*. Maturitas, 2011. **69**(1): p. 41-9.
- 191. Kant, A.K., *Reported consumption of low-nutrient-density foods by American children and adolescents: nutritional and health correlates, NHANES III, 1988 to 1994.* Archives Of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine, 2003. **157**(8): p. 789-96.

APPENDIX I

Normal Control diet. Harlan Laboratories Inc. Teklad 22/5 Rodent Diet (8640).

Macronutrients			
Crude Protein	22%		
Fat (ether extract)	5.5 %		
Carbohydrate (available)	40.6 %		
Crude Fiber	3.9 %		
Neutral Detergent Fiber	12.8 %		
Ash	8.1 %		
Calories from Protein	29 kcal%		
Calories from Fat	17 kcal%		
Calories from Carbohydrate	54 kcal%		
Minerals			
Calcium	1.1 %		
Phosphorus	0.9 %		
Non-Phytate Phosphorus	0.6 %		
Sodium	0.4 %		
Potassium	1.0 %		
Chloride	0.7 %		
Magnesium	0.2 %		
Zinc	77 mg/kg		
Manganese	102 mg/kg		
Copper	24 mg/kg		
Iodine	3 mg/kg		
Iron	280 mg/kg		
Selenium	0.27 mg/kg		
Vitamins			
Vitamin A	15.8 IU/g		
Vitamin D ₃	3.0 IU/g		
Vitamin E	150 IU/kg		
Vitamin K ₃ (menadione)	50 mg/kg		
Vitamin B_1 (thiamin)	32 mg/kg		
Vitamin B ₂ (riboflavin)	9 mg/kg		
Niacin (nicotinic acid)	66 mg/kg		
Vitamin B ₆ (pyridoxine)	14 mg/kg		
Pantothenic Acid	23 mg/kg		
Vitamin B ₁₂ (cyanocobalamin)	0.06 mg/kg		
Biotin	0.41 mg/kg		
Folate	3 mg/kg		
Choline	2380 mg/kg		

APPENDIX II

High Fat diet. Research Diets Inc. RD Western Diet (D12079B).

Macronutrient	gm%	kcal%
Protein	20	17
Carbohydrate	50	43
Fat	21	41
Ingredient		
Casein, 80 Mesh	195	780
L-Cystine	3	12
Corn Starch	50	200
Maltodextrin 10	100	400
Sucrose	341	1364
Cellulose	50	0
Milk Fat, Anhydrous	200	1800
Corn Oil	10	90
Mineral Mix S10001	35	0
Calcium Carbonate	4	0
Vitamin Mix V10001	10	40
Choline Bitartrate	2	0
Cholesterol, USP	1.5	0
Ethoxyquin	0.04	0
Total	1001.54	4686

APPENDIX III

Dehydrating, infiltration and embedding procedure and schedule. This procedure prepares the bone samples for histology.

Day	Procedure	Solution	Time	# of Changes	Storage
1 dehydration		70% ethanol	1 hour	2	3°C
		95% ethanol	1 hour	2	3°C
		95% ethanol	overnight		3°C
2	dehydration	100% ethanol	1 hour	3	3°C
		xylenes	1 hour	2	3°C
		xylenes	overnight		3°C
3, 4	infiltration 1	85 ml methyl methacrylate 15 ml dibutyl phthalate	24 hours	daily	3°C
5, 6	infiltration 2	85 ml methyl methacrylate 15 ml dibutyl phthalate 1 gram benzoyl peroxide	24 hours	daily	3°C
7,8	infiltration 3	85 ml methyl methacrylate 15 ml dibutyl phthalate 2 grams benzoyl peroxide	24 hours	daily	3°C
9	embedding	85 ml methyl methacrylate 15 ml dibutyl phthalate 2 grams benzoyl peroxide	leave for 2-3 days		37°C (water bath)

APPENDIX IV

Elastic modulus values of right femurs from sub-failure 3-point bend tests from the ADMET before correction, the extensometer and DVRT.

Property	Male		Female	
	NC	HF	NC	HF
Elastic Modulus (GPa)	2.75 ± 1.15	1.92 ± 0.63	3.54 ± 0.91	2.79 ± 0.70
(calculated using	(at 30 N)	(at 30 N)	(at 30 N)	(at 30 N)
deformation from				
extensometer)				
Elastic Modulus (GPa)	9.79 ± 8.21	5.08 ± 3.09	9.01 ± 4.21	7.08 ± 4.19
(calculated using	(at 30 N)	(at 30 N)	(at 30 N)	(at 30 N)
deformation from				
extensometer-corrected)				
Elastic Modulus (GPa)	2.39 ± 0.46	1.94 ± 0.52	2.73 ± 0.29	2.39 ± 0.46
(calculated using	(at 100 N)	(at 100 N)	(at 60 N)	(at 60 N)
deformation from Admet)				
Elastic Modulus (GPa)	4.17 ± 0.87	3.46 ± 0.94	4.19 ± 0.45	3.70 ± 0.67
(calculated using	(at 100 N)	(at 100 N)	(at 60 N)	(at 60 N)
deformation from Admet -				
corrected)				
Elastic Modulus (GPa)	14.17 ± 2.34	11.47 ± 2.71	14.31 ± 2.56	14.43 ± 3.38
(calculated using	(at 100 N)	(at 100 N)	(at 60 N)	(at 60 N)
deformation from DVRT)				

APPENDIX V

Mechanical properties of the left femurs from failure 3-point bend tests from the ADMET before correction and the DVRT.

Property	Male		Female		
	NC	HF	NC	HF	
Proportional	156.02 ± 18.50	155.27 ± 20.57	112.41 ± 12.10	124.43 ± 8.46	
Load (N)					
(ADMET)	150 41 + 00 10	146.04 + 20.01	100 71 + 14 00	101.07 + 7.00	
Proportional Load (N)	152.41 ± 20.18	146.84 ± 20.01	$108./1 \pm 14.02$	$121.0/\pm /.20$	
(DVRT)					
Maximum	0.786 ± 0.061	0.791 ± 0.194	0.665 ± 0.074	0.674 ± 0.61	
Deformation	0.700 ± 0.001	0.771 ± 0.171	0.000 ± 0.071	0.071 ± 0.01	
(mm) (ADMET)					
Maximum	0.692 ± 0.059	0.722 ± 0.181	0.595 ± 0.092	0.576 ± 0.074	
Deformation					
(mm) (DVRT)		0.046 + 0.000	0.007 + 0.001	0.044 + 0.010	
Proportional	0.263 ± 0.023	0.246 ± 0.039	0.237 ± 0.031	0.244 ± 0.013	
(mm) (ADMET)					
Proportional	0.223 ± 0.030	0.205 ± 0.029	0.199 ± 0.034	0.198 ± 0.018	
Deformation	0.225 ± 0.050	0.203 ± 0.027	0.177 ± 0.054	0.170 ± 0.010	
(mm) (DVRT)					
Max Energy	135.42 ± 22.27	134.80 ± 35.32	83.14 ± 14.07	91.25 ± 17.11	
(mJ) (ADMET)					
Max Energy	118.20 ± 15.13	122.43 ± 31.09	74.76 ± 15.71	77.62 ± 15.46	
(MJ) (DVRI) Proportional	22.45 ± 4.04	21.10 ± 5.75	15 17 + 2 26	1(77 + 1.02)	
Fnergy (m.I)	22.43 ± 4.04	21.19 ± 5.75	$15.1/\pm 5.20$	10.77 ± 1.82	
(ADMET)					
Proportional	1833 ± 402	1627 ± 417	12.18 ± 3.28	13.00 ± 1.53	
Energy (mJ)	10.000 1102	10.27	12110 0120	10100 1100	
(DVRT)					
Stiffness (N/mm)	605.39 ± 54.71	657.46 ± 50.26	474.59 ± 36.72	521.88 ± 28.60	
(ADMET)	(02.20 + 105.50	722.50 + ((.40	526.24 + 52.22	(00.04 + 54.27)	
(DVRT)	682.28 ± 105.59	$/23.38 \pm 60.49$	536.24 ± 55.55	608.84 ± 54.3	
Elastic Modulus	2.79 ± 0.63	233 ± 059	336 ± 049	3.03 ± 0.66	
(GPa)	2.77 - 0.05	2.55 - 0.57	5.50 - 0.15	5.05 - 0.00	
(calculated using					
deformation					
from ADMET)					
Elastic Modulus	3.16 ± 0.72	2.58 ± 0.74	3.78 ± 0.62	3.58 ± 0.90	
(Gra) (calculated using					
deformation					
from DVRT)					